

# University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

### **Masters Theses**

**Graduate School** 

8-2002

# Evaluation of enrichment methods for recovery of Yersinia enterocolitica 0:3 and 0:8 from swine feeds and its transformation with pGFPuv vector

Joo-Sung Kim

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_gradthes

#### **Recommended Citation**

Kim, Joo-Sung, "Evaluation of enrichment methods for recovery of Yersinia enterocolitica 0:3 and 0:8 from swine feeds and its transformation with pGFPuv vector." Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, 2002.

https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_gradthes/6561

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Joo-Sung Kim entitled "Evaluation of enrichment methods for recovery of Yersinia enterocolitica 0:3 and 0:8 from swine feeds and its transformation with pGFPuv vector." I have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, with a major in Food Science and Technology.

F. Ann Draughon, Major Professor

We have read this thesis and recommend its acceptance:

A.G. Mathew, D.A. Golden

Accepted for the Council: Carolyn R. Hodges

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Joo-Sung Kim entitled "Evaluation of Enrichment Methods for Recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8 from Swine Feeds and Its Transformation with pGFPuv Vector." I have examined the final paper copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, with a major in Food Science and Technology.

J. Ann Draug,

F. Ann Draughon, Major Professor

We have read this thesis And recommend its acceptance:

Ac smot David Colder

Accepted for the Council: Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Studies

Aq-Ver Med. Thesis 2002 .K5643

4

•

Evaluation of Enrichment Methods for Recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8 from Swine Feeds and Its Transformation with pGFPuv Vector

A Thesis Presented for the Master of Science Degree

The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

Joo-Sung Kim

August, 2002

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank the Department of Food Science and Technology for granting me the academic opportunity to complete a Master's degree. I am especially thankful to Dr. F. Ann Draughon, Major Professor, for her guidance and patience despite my language problem especially at the beginning of my study. I also thank Dr. A. G. Mathew for his assistance as my committee member in providing swine feeds and Paul Ebner for his help in transformation of *Y. enterocolitica*. I also thank Dr. D. A. Golden for his service on my committee.

The helpful advice and assistance by Dr. S. Bhaduri (USDA, ARS, ERRC, Philadelphia, PA, USA) in providing *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 P+ culture are acknowledged.

Much appreciation goes out to my family for their support and concern, especially my mother whose encouragement has compelled me to achieve and complete this degree. Appreciation is extended to Felix Jackson as my roommate for his contributing support, especially during challenges in journey of my thesis, to Willie Taylor, Philipus Pangloli, and Omaima Ahmed for their assistance in the laboratory and to my fellow graduate students, Valerie Ling, Kimberly Lamar, Young-Sook Noh, David Rasmussen, Charlene Belles, and Rahul Seshadri for their encouragements.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	PAGE
Part I: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
History	2
Characteristics	3
Isolation from the environment and epidemiology	4
Methodology	9
Selective agents	27
Green fluorescent protein	28
References	30
Part II: Evaluation of enrichment methods for recovery of	
Yersinia enterocolitica O:3 and O:8 from swine feeds	40
Abstract	41
Introduction	42
Materials and methods	43
Results	49
Discussion	66
References	72
Part III: Transformation of Yersinia enterocolitica with pGFPuv	
plasmid vector	77
Abstract	78
Introduction	78
Materials and methods	79
Results	81
Discussion	82
References	84
Part IV: CONCLUSION	86
References	89
VITA	91

## LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1. Plating media to isolate Y. enterocolitica	14
Table 2. Enrichment media to isolate Y. enterocolitica	20
Table 3. Experimental enrichment and isolation methods for	
Y. enterocolitica	45
Table 4. Biochemical characteristics of Y. enterocolitica serotype	
O:8, ATCC 9610 and Y. enterocolitica GER-C, serotype O:3	48
Table 5. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3 and O:8, 1000 CFU/g	
feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml PBS	
at 4°C with KOH and without KOH post-enrichment	
treatment followed by plating on CIN agar	50
Table 6. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3, 1000 CFU/g feed from	
swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml ITC enrichment	
at 22°C and KOH post-enrichment treatment	51
Table 7. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:8, 1000 CFU/g feed from	
swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml ITC enrichment	
at 22°C and KOH post-enrichment treatment followed by	
plating on SSDC agar	52
Table 8. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3, 1000 CFU/g feed from	
swine feeds using 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB at $21^{\circ}$ C	
and KOH post-enrichment treatment	54
Table 9. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:8, 1000 CFU/g feed from	
swine feeds using 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB at $21^{\circ}$ C	
and KOH post-enrichment treatment followed by plating	
on CIN agar	55
Table 10. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3, 1000 CFU/g feed from	
swine feeds using 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB at 4°C	
followed by plating on CIN agar	56
Table 11. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:8, 1000 CFU/g feed from	
swine feeds using 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB at $4^{\circ}$ C	
with KOH and without KOH post-enrichment treatment	57

able 12. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3 and O:8, 1000 CFU/g	
feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml TSB	
with Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10 $\mu$ g/ml)	
(TSBPN) at 18°C with and without KOH post-enrichment	
treatment	58
Table 13. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3 and O:8, 100 CFU/g	
feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml ITC	
enrichment at 22°C with one-step and two-step followed	
by plating on CIN agar	60
Cable 14. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3 and O:8, 100 CFU/g	
feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and TSB with	
Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10 µg/ml)	
(TSBPN) at 18°C with one-step and two-step followed	
by plating on CIN agar	61
Cable 15. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3, 10 CFU/g feed from	
swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml ITC enrichment	
at 22°C followed by plating on CIN agar	63
Table 16. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3 and O:8, 10 CFU/g	
feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml TSB	
with Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10 µg/ml)	
(TSBPN) at 18°C with one-step and two-step followed	
by plating on CIN agar	64
able 17. Summary of methods to recover Y. enterocolitica O:3 and	
O:8 from swine feeds	65

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- BHI : Brain heart infusion
- BOS : Bile-oxalate-sorbose
- CAL : Cellobiose-arginine-lysine
- CIN : Cefsulodin-irgasan-novobiocin
- CR-BHO : Low-calcium congo red brain heart infusion agarose
- GFP : Green fluorescent protein
- ITC : Irgasan, ticarcillin, and potassium chlorate
- MAC : MacConkey
- MRB : Modified rappaport broth
- MS : Modified selenite enrichment broth
- PBS : Phosphate buffered saline
- PCR : Polymerase chain reaction
- PSB : Phosphate-buffered saline with 1% sorbitol and 0.15% bile salts
- SS : Salmonella-shigella
- SS-D : Salmonella-shigella deoxycholate
- SSDC : Salmonella-shigella deoxycholate calcium
- TSB : Tryptic soy broth or Trypticase soy broth
- TSBPN : TSB with Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10 µg/ml)
- TSI : Triple sugar iron
- VYE : Virulent Yersinia enterocolitica
- YER : Yeast extract rose bengal

Part I:

Literature review

### History

The genus *Yersinia* is Gram-negative coccobacilli and contains three well-recognized human pathogens including *Y. enterocolitica, Y. pestis* (the plague bacillus), and *Y. pseudotuberculosis*. The name of *Yersinia* is after the French bacteriologist Alexandre Yersin who first described the plague bacillus (Bottone, 1999).

In 1934, the first recognition of Y. enterocolitica was made in US under the name Flavobacterium pseudomallei, with the description that a small gram negative coccobacillus was isolated from two facial boil of a 53-year-old farm dweller. It was also isolated from the cervical lymph nodes (McIver and Pike, 1934). In 1939, based on microbiologic properties and origins, the unidentified microorganism was named Bacterium enterocoliticum which was proposed by Schleifstein and Coleman working at the New York State Department of Health (Schlelfstein and Coleman, 1939). In the US, Y. enterocolitica serotype O:8 presumptive strains which were isolated from patients with enterocolitis were also named Bacterium enterocoliticum based on biochemical reactions in 1943 (Bottone, 1999). In 1944, the change of Pasteurella pestis and P. pseudotuberculosis to newly defined Yersinia was proposed by Van Loghem (Aleksic and Bockemühl, 1999). During the periods that Yersinia was called Pasteurella, strains that differed from *Pasteurella pseudotuberculosis* in biochemical reactions, susceptibility to phage lysis, and pathogenicity for guinea pigs and rabbits were suggested to be classified as a new species of Pasteurella. It was later called Pasteurella "X" (Schiemann, 1989).

2

*Y. enterocolitica* was first designated by Frederiksen in 1964. The first major reported foodborne outbreak from *Y. enterocolitica* occurred among 36 children who had consumed chocolate milk contaminated with *Y. enterocolitica* O:8 in New York State in 1976 (Black et al., 1978). This outbreak created scientific interest in this neglected bacterial species (Bottone, 1999).

### Characteristics

*Y. enterocolitica* is a Gram-negative and facultatively anaerobic coccobacillus under the genus *Yersinia* in the *Enterobacteriaceae* family. Because it is recognized as a foodborne pathogen (Lee et al., 1981) with growth at refrigerator temperature, it is called a psychrotrophic pathogen. Refrigerated foods are potential vehicles for foodborne illness for the organism (Bhaduri, 1999; Fukushima and Gomyoda, 1986a; Lee et al., 1980).

It is a major foodborne pathogen in the United States, which is associated with human gastroenteritis, pseudoappendicitis, mesenteric lymphadenitis, terminal ileitis, reactive arthritis, peritonitis, colon and neck abscesses, and cholecystis (Jay, 2000). Yersiniosis occurs primarily in infants or young children (Metchock et al., 1991). Fever, abdominal pain, and diarrhea are the most common symptoms (Schiemann, 1989). Watery, sometimes bloody stool is characteristic of *Y. enterocolitica*. Bloody diarrhea is observed mostly in adults (Aleksic and Bockemühl, 1999).

Growth of *Y. enterocolitica* has been identified over the temperature range  $-2^{\circ}$ C to 45°C (Stern et al., 1980), but optimum temperature has been found ranging from 32°C to 35°C (Schiemann, 1980b). The minimum growth temperature can be raised by the addition of NaCl. Growth was observed at 3°C over the pH range 4.6-9.0 (Stern et al.,

1980). It is destroyed in 1-3 minutes at 60°C (Hanna et al., 1977), but is rather resistant to freezing (Jay, 2000).

*Y. enterocolitica* is distributed worldwide (Aleksic and Bockemühl, 1999) and is a genotypically, phenotypically and ecologically heterogeneous species (Aulisio et al., 1980; Kapperud, 1991; Stock and Wiedemann, 1999). The sugar content of the lipopolysaccharides (LPS) of the cell wall varies among strains of *Y. enterocolitica* and makes serotyping possible (Schiemann, 1989). A number of biotyping schemes have been proposed based on biochemical tests (Schiemann, 1989).

Strain-to-strain variation exists in the pathogenicity of *Y. enterocolitica*. The presence of a 70-75 kbp plasmid is directly involved with the virulence (Bhaduri, 1999), and is also related to calcium dependency of this microorganism (Gemski et al., 1980). The physiological characteristics related to the virulence plasmid are only expressed at 37°C, but this temperature also facilitates the loss of the plasmid which means the disappearance of the associated phenotypic virulence characteristics (Bhaduri, 1999). The invasiveness of *Y. enterocolitica* is also related to two chromosomal loci, *inv* and *ail* (Miller and Falkow, 1988).

The enterotoxin produced by *Y. enterocolitica* is heat-stable and survives 100°C for 15 min (Pai and Mors, 1978).

### Isolation from the environment and epidemiology

Many studies were conducted to isolate *Y. enterocolitica* from swine and the environment and they validate that swine is a major reservoir of pathogenic *Y. enterocolitica*.

4

*Yersinia* spp. were isolated from the tonsils of 200 (43.4%) of the 461 slaughtered pigs tested in Norway in 1984 (Nesbakken and Kapperud, 1985). Among the total isolates, 92.7% were identified as *Y. enterocolitica* and 70.9% were *Y. enterocolitica* O:3. Serotype O:3/biotype 4 was found in 31.7% of all pigs, which is typical in European countries (Nesbakken and Kapperud, 1985).

*Y. enterocolitica* was also isolated from 25% of the pigs in Danish herds during an investigation from 1982 to 1983 (Andersen et al., 1991). *Y. enterocolitica* was isolated from water from water nipples and swabs of pigpen floors at swine farms, as well as from pork at swine processing rooms in Korea (Rho et al., 2001).

The prevalence of *Y. enterocolitica* among swine is dependent on seasons. The prevalence in winter was significantly higher than summer (Letellier et al., 1999).

In the US, some studies revealed that swine harbor *Y. enterocolitica*. Twenty-one *Y. enterocolitica* isolates were obtained from 31 swine tongues and serotype O:8 was most frequent (Doyle et al., 1981). This was the first finding of an association between O:8 and a natural reservoir. *Y. enterocolitica* was found in 9 tongues out of 25 swine tongues in another study (Doyle and Hugdahl, 1983). Among 103 lots of market swine located in midwestern area, *Y. enterocolitica* was found in ninety-five lots (92.2%), with serotype O:5 (89.7%) and O:3 (3.7%) found in the 107 pathogenic strains (Funk et al., 1998).

In other study, pathogenic strains were also found in tonsils, mesenteric nodes and tongues of pigs at a slaughterhouse in Rome, Italy, with 47.2%, 15.7%, and 4.7%, respectively, among samples (De Giusti et al., 1995).

In Canada, *Y. enterocolitica* was recovered from cecal materials of 21% of finished swine. A high percentage (85.5%) of isolates was serotype O:3 (Letellier et al., 1999).

Wild animals, environmental water, and swine feeds are also contaminated with *Y*. enterocolitica (Fukushima et al., 1984; Jay, 2000). In Scandinavia, *Y. enterocolitica* was found in the environment and in wild animals including fish, birds, small rodents, shrews and foxes (Kapperud, 1981). In Denmark, *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 was isolated from pigs, pork, dogs, sewage of private households, slaughterhouses, and drinking water (Christensen, 1987). In Bulgaria, O:3 was found in many wild animals (Nikolova et al., 2001). The World Health Organization (WHO) reported many possible origins of *Y.* enterocolitica, including domestic and wild animals, rodents, birds and freshwater fish (Mollaret et al., 1979). In Japan, one strain of *Y. enterocolitica* 4/O3 was isolated from swine formula feeds (Fukushima et al., 1984).

Hake fillet samples were found to harbor pathogenic *Y. enterocolitica* in Argentina (Velázquez et al., 1996). Oysters (13%), shrimp (4%), and crab (21%) were also found to harbor *Y. enterocolitica* (Peixotto et al., 1979).

Infection of *Y. enterocolitica* may be due to consumption of contaminated food or water, also rarely, person-to-person transmission (Aleksic and Bockemühl, 1999).

*Y. enterocolitica* O:3, O:5,27, O:8, and O:9 are the most common serotypes associated with human infections (Jay, 2000). Jay (2000) reported that O:8 (biovars 2 and 3) is the most commonly isolated pathogenic strain in the United States, but it should be noted that the isolation of O:3 has increased significantly and it has emerged as the predominant serotype in California (Bissett et al., 1990). Serotype O:3 was also predominant in Georgia (Metchock et al., 1991). Serovar O:3 (biovar 4) is the most common serovar in Europe (Nesbakken and Kapperud, 1985), Canada, Africa, and Japan

6

(Zen-Yoji et al., 1973). The second most common in Europe and Africa is serotype O:9 (Ahvonen, 1972; Jay, 2000).

Swine is widely believed to constitute the single most common source of *Y*. *enterocolitica* for humans (Jay, 2000; Kapperud 1991; Nesbakken and Kapperud, 1985; Schiemann 1980a). Pigs and food products from pigs are highly associated with human infection with *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:9 based on strong indirect evidence, but the linkage with O:8 is not clear (Kapperud, 1991). In Norway, a case-control study suggested a link between yersiniosis and consumption of raw or rare pork and untreated water (Ostroff et al., 1994). But, *Y. enterocolitica* serovars isolated from other species of animals, water and foods are normally different from ones associated with human infection in biochemical and serological traits (De Boer, 1992; Schiemann and Toma, 1978; Schiemann, 1979a).

It was reported that half of raw retail pork and 7% of processed pork contained *Y*. *enterocolitica* in Canada (Schiemann, 1980a). Isolates from raw pork were mostly from tongues. Vacuum packed meat under refrigeration can also be a source of *Y*. *enterocolitica* infection (Hanna et al., 1976). In Denmark, *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 was detected in minced pork and minced beef collected at 10 different retail butcher's shops (Andersen et al., 1991). Interestingly all positive beef samples were collected from butcher's shops where minced pork was found positive. This indicates possible cross contamination at the butcher's shops (Andersen et al., 1991).

Isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* from swine varies from herd to herd, and this may be attributed to the fact that it spreads on a pen basis (Andersen et al., 1991).

Besides intestinal inhabitation, serotype O:3 and O:9 also inhabit the oral cavity of swine, particulary tongue and tonsil (Bhaduri and Cottrell, 1997; Fredriksson-Ahomaa et al., 2000; Kapperud, 1991; Nesbakken and Kapperud, 1985). The incidence of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 in throat flora of swine was investigated in Ontario, Canada (Schiemann, 1981). The strains were found in 20%, 50%, and 55% of tonsils, throats, and tongues, respectively. Human incidence with the same serotype comprised 81% among human isolates in eastern Canada. It is believed that the bacteria common in the throat of swine at the age of slaughter may be spread to pork products during slaughter and processing, similar to *salmonella* (Fredriksson-Ahomaa et al., 2001; Shiemann, 1989).

To reduce fecal contamination of swine carcasses, 'bagging technique' (enclosure of anus and rectum in a plastic bag during the slaughter of pigs) has been gradually introduced in Norway, and the incidence of pathogenic *Y. enterocolitica* in pork products has decreased (Johannessen et al., 2000).

Water has been also occasionally associated with yersiniosis for a small number of cases (Schiemann, 1989). Tofu associated yersiniosis in US was attributed to contaminated water during the manufacture (Tacket et al., 1985). Some *Y. enterocolitica* strains, including O:13 pathogenic strains were isolated from drinking-water systems such as wells and waterworks (Lassen, 1972). A few drinking water supplies such as wells and springs in Turkey were found to be contaminated with *Y. enterocolitica* (Gönül and Karapinar, 1991).

Milk is another source which has caused foodborne outbreaks linked to Y. enterocolitica. Raw milk has commonly been involved in Y. enterocolitica (Kushal and Anand, 2001; Schiemann and Toma, 1978; Schiemann, 1989). Y. enterocolitica from

8

pasteurized milk is likely to be from postpasteurization contamination (Ackers et al., 2000). Insanitary conditions and temperature abuse of raw milk allow for the presence of *Y. enterocolitica* and their multiplication (Schiemann and Toma, 1978). Yersiniosis among patients in one hospital was traced to contaminated pasteurized milk supplied to this hospital (Greenwood and Hooper, 1990). Most of raw milk samples (81%) were implicated in *Y. enterocolitica* in France (Vidon and Delmas, 1981).

Yersiniosis in the United States has been normally associated with consumption of foods such as milk and tofu and serotype O:8 has been more common (Ackers et al., 2000; Black et al., 1978; Morse et al., 1984; Tacket et al., 1985) than O:3 (Lee et al., 1990).

### Methodology

The use of good and appropriate isolation methods is very important to isolate *Y*. *enterocolitica*, and the ability of *Y*. *enterocolitica* to grow on isolation media varies depending on the type of media(Head et al., 1982). Also, improper selection of media makes the detection of *Y*. *enterocolitica* difficult from clinical and environmental samples (Bercovier et al., 1984).

The use of enrichment before plating facilitates the successful isolation of *Y*. enterocolitica (De Boer, 1992; Jiang et al., 2000; Schiemann, 1979a; Schiemann, 1982), because foods normally have small numbers of *Y. enterocolitica* and large numbers of contaminating bacteria (Thippareddi et al., 1995; Toora et al., 1994b; Wauters et al., 1988). Furthermore, the growth of *Y. enterocolitica* is normally masked by background microflora (Aulisio et al., 1980; Escudero et al., 1995; Lee et al., 1980). The use of twostep enrichment can be beneficial because pre-enrichment can be less selective, thus allowing for growth of small inocula of *Y. enterocolitica* and repair of injured cells. Subsequent selective enrichment can be highly selective because it has high inocula and healthy cells (Schiemann, 1982).

Isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* from foods is normally more difficult than from human feces because the number of *Y. enterocolitica* may be smaller, and the number of background flora is likely to be higher (Schiemann, 1982). Furthermore, antagonism by certain gram-negative bacteria in foods at high temperature makes the development of isolation methods more difficult (Schiemann, 1983). Serotype O:8 is known to be more difficult to recover from foods than other human serotypes (Lee et al., 1980).

During the 1970s, enrichment methods to recover *Y. enterocolitica* were primarily based on cold enrichment (Eiss, 1975) to take advantage of the psychrotrophic nature of *Y. enterocolitica* and to suppress the growth of background microflora (Bhaduri et al., 1997). But, there have been many efforts to shorten the incubation time since then, therefore selective and effective enrichment methods with shorter incubation time and higher incubation temperature have been developed (Bhaduri et al., 1997; Doyle and Hugdahl, 1983; Landgraf et al., 1993; Toora et al., 1994b; Wauters, 1973; Wauters et al., 1988). Because *Y. enterocolitica* varies in growth characteristics among serotypes, the methods for recovery have been mostly limited to specific serotypes or environmental strains (Toora et al., 1994b). The efficiency of *Y. enterocolitica* recovery also varies depending on foods being tested (Bhaduri and Cottrell, 1997).

Improved isolation methods and DNA hybridization methods with gene probes have indicated that the prevalence of pathogenic *Y. enterocolitica* in pork is higher than previously reported (Kapperud, 1991). For example, *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 was detected from 60% of raw pork samples in Norway by using DNA-DNA hybridization assay while only 18% of samples by conventional procedures like irgasan, ticarcillin, and potassium chlorate (ITC) enrichment (Nesbakken et al., 1991) were positive.

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) methods recovered slightly more pathogenic bioserotype 4/O:3 strains than did cultural methods, including tryptic soy broth (TSB) and modified rappaport broth (MRB) from pig tonsils in Finland (Fredriksson-Ahomaa et al., 2000). PCR gave higher positive samples (17%) harboring *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 than traditional culture method (2%), when compared to Phosphate-buffered saline with 1% Sorbitol and 0.15% Bile salts (PSB) and MRB, out of 300 pork samples. But the superiority of PCR methods is still uncertain (Johannessen et al., 2000). Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) is an efficient tool for subtyping isolates belonging to bioserotype 4/O:3 (Fredriksson-Ahomaa et al., 2000).

Compared to cultural methods, the advantage of PCR is in its increased sensitivity and higher specificity while the disadvantage is possible false positive or inability to differentiate between viable and non-viable bacteria (Lambertz et al., 1996).

The development of an effective method should be related to its ability to recover all pathogenic forms with equal reliability and within a reasonable time frame (Schiemann, 1983).

#### Plating media

The isolation medium, BABY4 developed by Bercovier et al. (1984) is intended for environmental samples such as water and vegetables (Table 1). It is designed to have high selectivity for *Y. enterocolitica* because it has potassium chlorate which inhibits the growth of a majority of *Enterobacteriaceae* with a type A nitrate reductase. Sorbose added to the agar differentiates Y. enterocolitica from other sorbose-negative bacteria. This agar method isolated more Y. enterocolitica strains compared to Salmonella-shigella (SS) agar from stools and drinking water samples (Bercovier et al., 1984).

Cefsulodin-irgasan-novobiocin (CIN) agar was developed by Shiemann (Schiemann, 1979b) (Table 1). It is a highly selective medium based on colony morphology and mannitol fermentation, which makes it possible to differentiate Y. enterocolitica from most Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. The average colony size measures 1.35 mm at 32°C and 24 hours (h), which is larger than colonies on MacConkey (MAC) agar. The colony appearance is distinctive. It has a deep red center with either entire or irregular border which is usually translucent. The deep red pigment is from mannose fermentation. This agar is especially inhibitory to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Escherichia* coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, and Proteus mirabilis which are competitors in the isolation of Y. enterocolitica from both clinical and environmental samples. CIN agar showed higher recovery of Y. enterocolitica from feces than Salmonella-shigella (SS) and MAC agars for both direct plating and after cold enrichment (Schiemann, 1979b). CIN agar can significantly reduce the amount of work to isolate Y. enterocolitica with specific colony morphology and the highest isolation rate compared to SS, MAC, desoxycholate hydrogen sulphide lactose (DHL), bismuth sulfite, and cellobiose-arginine-lysine (CAL) agar (Schiemann, 1979b; Schiemann, 1983). But, the difference of colony morphology between pathogenic and non-pathogenic Yersinia spp. is small (Johannessen et al., 2000). Other minor drawbacks are that colonies of Citrobacter freundii, Serratia liquefaciens, and Enterobacter agglomerans and those of environmental Yersinia spp., especially

Yersinia intermedia may not be differentiated from those of Y. enterocolitica (Fukushima, 1987; Head et al., 1982).

MacConkey (MAC) agar supports the growth of all strains of *Y. enterocolitica* (Table 1), but drawbacks lie in a low selectivity and the absence of differential reaction (Lee, 1977a; Schiemann, 1979b). The use of MAC agar can be troublesome because foods have high amounts of microorganisms that will resemble *Y. enterocolitica* on MAC agar (Schiemann, 1979b). MAC agar had a higher recovery rate compared to SS, hektoen, Levine eosin methylene blue (EMB), and bismuth sulfite agars that are no longer commonly used to isolate *Y. enterocolitica* (Mehlman et al., 1978).

In another study for recovery rate of *Y. enterocolitica*, both MAC and CIN agars were better by 75 and 85%, respectively, compared to other media, including SS, pectin, and CAL agars (Head et al., 1982). When inoculated fecal materials were tested, the recovery rate of CIN agar was 100%, whereas the rates of CAL and SS agars were both 0% (Head et al., 1982). Thus, CIN agar was by far better than other plating media.

When the efficiency of CIN and MAC agars were compared for isolation from the swine tongues, MAC agar isolated more *Y. enterocolitica* strains from same samples than did CIN agar (Doyle and Hugdahl, 1983). However, CIN agar has an advantage in that the colonies of *Y. enterocolitica* are more easily identified because they have characteristic "bull's eye" characteristics (Doyle and Hugdahl, 1983; Fredriksson-Ahomaa et al., 2000).

Modified MAC agar with Tween 80 is used to differentiate *Y. enterocolitica* colonies from other lactose-negative colonies (Table 1). Tween 80-positive *Y. enterocolitica* 

Plating media	Incubation time and temperature	Reference
BABY4	48 h under anaerobic conditions, then 24 h under aerobic conditions, 35°C.	Bercovier et al., 1984
CIN <sup>a</sup>	24 h at 32°C or 48 h at 22°C	Schiemann, 1979
MAC <sup>b</sup>	48 h, 26°C	Mehlman et al., 1978
MAC <sup>b</sup> with Tween 80	48 h, 25°C	Lee, 1977b
SS <sup>c</sup>	Overnight at 37°C, then 24 h at 22°C	Van Noyen et al., 1980
	48 h, 25°C	Eiss, 1975
$SS-D^d$	20 h, 29°C	Wauters, 1973
SSDC <sup>e</sup>	24 h, 30°C	Wauters et al., 1988
CR-BHO <sup>f</sup>	18 to 24 h, 37°C	Bhaduri et al., 1997
VYE <sup>g</sup>	24 h, 37°C	Fukushima, 1987
KV202	24 h, 32°C	Jiang et al., 2000

Table 1. Plating media to isolate Y. enterocolitica

<sup>a</sup> Cefsulodin-irgasan-novobiocin.

<sup>b</sup> MacConkey.

<sup>c</sup> Salmonella-shigella.

<sup>d</sup> Salmonella-shigella deoxycholate.

<sup>e</sup> Salmonella-shigella deoxycholate calcium.

<sup>f</sup> Low-calcium congo red – brain heart infusion agarose.

<sup>g</sup> Virulent Yersinia enterocolitica.

colonies are characterized by a surrounding zone of sheen. Even though some strains are negative, the agar recovered *Y. enterocolitica* better than did SS agar from meat and oysters (Lee, 1977b).

SS agar was compared to MAC agar for clinical specimens (Table 1)(Van Noyen et al., 1980). SS agar resulted in much higher efficiency of isolation of *Y. enterocolitica*, especially O:3 and O:9, compared to MAC agar. However, decreased isolation at 37°C has been reported (Chester and Stotzky, 1976).

Salmonella-shigella deoxycholate (SS-D) agar was developed by Wauters (1973) to isolate O:3 and O:9 (Table 1). It is modified from SS agar by adding 2% of sodium deoxycholate, since *Y. enterocolitica* is highly tolerant of that chemical. It had higher recovery of O:3 than did SS agar. The colony is granular and not iridescent. A short incubation time of 20 h was achieved (Wauters, 1973).

Salmonella-shigella deoxycholate calcium (SSDC) agar was used by Wauters et al. (1988) (Table 1). Calcium (0.1%) was added to original SS-D agar, and it enhanced the growth of O:3. The agar, however, was not appropriate for other pathogenic and nonpathogenic *Yersinia* strains (Wauters et al., 1988).

Low-calcium Congo red (CR) – brain heart infusion agarose (CR-BHO) was developed by Bhaduri et al. (1997) to isolate plasmid-bearing virulent *Y. enterocolitica* (Table 1). Its formulation is based on the principle that agarose contains less calcium than agar (Bhaduri et al., 1990). It produces red and "pinpoint" colonies because CR binding contributes to red color and low-calcium response contributes to the pinpoint colonies with 0.36 mm diameter at 37°C after 24 h. However, plasmidless strains (P-) produce large colonies, irrespective of calcium level. Its combination with MacConkey agar permitted isolation of virulent Y. enterocolitica, whereas CIN agar did not (Berche and Carter, 1982; Bhaduri et al., 1997).

Virulent Yersinia enterocolitica (VYE) agar was developed to isolate virulent Yersinia enterocolitica from environmental or clinical samples (Fukushima, 1987) (Table 1). The isolates of virulent Y. enterocolitica are easily differentiated. They have red colonies as a result of mannitol fermentation and esculin nonhydrolysis, whereas most environmental Yersinia organisms (Y. enterocolitica, Y. intermedia, and Y. frederiksenii) and other gram negative microorganisms have pink or dark-red colonies or transparent colonies with a dark edge. This agar contains four antibiotics, which include cefsulodin, irgasan, josamycin, and oleandomycin (Fukushima, 1987). It is especially effective for Y. enterocolitica biotype 3B serotype O:3, which is inhibited on CIN agar (Fukushima and Gomyoda, 1986b). But, other studies showed that the use of josamycin and oleandomycin is unsatisfactory to inhibit irgasan-resistant Gram-negative bacteria (Toora et al., 1994a).

CAL and bismuth sulfite agars were not productive in recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* (Schiemann, 1983).

The performances of CIN and KV202 agar plates (Table 1) in isolating *Y*. *enterocolitica* from ground beef samples were compared (Jiang et al., 2000). More suspect colonies were found on CIN plates than KV202, but the number of positive colonies was similar between CIN (23%) and KV202 (20%). CIN agar had more falsepositive colonies (Jiang et al., 2000). Compared to CIN plates, which can not differentiate *Salmonella*, *Serratia liquefaciens*, *Citrobacter freundii*, and *Enterobacter agglomerans*, KV202 plates easily differentiate *Serratia*, *Enterobacter*, and *Salmonella*. *Y*. *enterocolitica* has light yellow colonies without a black zone (Jiang et al., 2000).

#### Potassium hydroxide (KOH) treatment

*Y. enterocolitica* is generally more tolerant to potassium hydroxide (KOH) treatments than other Gram-negative bacteria (Aulisio et al., 1980; Fukushima, 1985; Schiemann, 1982). The treatment provides a simple, sensitive and rapid tool to recover *Y. enterocolitica* from mixed cultures (Aulisio et al., 1980).

The exposure of a 0.5 ml *Y. enterocolitica* culture to 4.5 ml of 0.5% KOH led to decreases of 2 to 3 logs, whereas 7 to 8 log decreases occurred for other *Enterobacteriaceae* such as *E. coli* and *Salmonella*. Two days of incubation at 26°C rather than 1 day, and 13 days of incubation at 4°C rather than 7 days, by enrichment in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) led to more effective KOH treatment (Aulisio et al., 1980). Regarding isolation of *Yersinia* from foods, 80% were recovered by alkali treatment, but only 20% were recovered by saline treatment (Aulisio et al., 1980). Direct KOH treatment was very effective in recovering *Y. enterocolitica* from fresh water (Fukushima, 1992). In another study, direct KOH treatment to pork, which was artificially contaminated from 10 to  $10^4$  cells/g, effectively recovered all strains tested from  $10^2$  cells/g, whereas KOH post-enrichment treatment after PBS was ineffective (Fukushima, 1985). KOH treatment of 0.5% in 0.5% NaCl resulted in better selectivity compared to only 0.5% NaCl treatment to isolate *Y. enterocolitica* from milk (Kushal and Anand, 2001).

The effects of different KOH treatments on *Y. enterocolitica* were evaluated. *Y. enterocolitica* was more sensitive to 0.5% KOH for 15 seconds (s) than 0.35% KOH for 30 s and 0.25% KOH for 2 minutes (min) treatment (Doyle and Hugdahl, 1983).

#### **Enrichment methods**

Cold enrichment has been used frequently by many researchers to recover *Y*. *enterocolitica* from foods or swine by the use of 4°C temperature and several weeks of incubation (Andersen et al., 1991; Doyle et al., 1981; Eiss, 1975; Funk et al., 1998; Jiang et al., 2000; Schiemann, 1983; Van Noyen, 1980). From a clinical standpoint, however, cold enrichment for extended incubation was not effective to recover human pathogenic serotype (Hoorfar and Holmvig, 1999; Van Noyen et al., 1980). In another study, however, this method increased isolation of O:3 and O:5 compared to rappaport broth for 48 h at 25°C from stool specimens (Eiss, 1975).

Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) has been most commonly used for cold enrichment (Funk et al., 1998; Schiemann, 1983), and its effect was maximal after three weeks of incubation (Van Pee and Stragier, 1979).

PBS at 4°C was used to isolate *Y. enterocolitica* from cecal materials of swine (Letellier et al., 1999) (Table 2). It recovered various serotypes including O:3, O:5 and O:9.

Cold enrichment using PBS for 21 days at 4°C followed by 0.5% KOH postenrichment treatment was successful for isolating virulent *Y. enterocolitica* from porcine tongues (Doyle et al., 1981) (Table 2). But, modified rappaport broth (MRB) and modified selenite enrichment broth (MS) were not effective.

PBS at 25 °C – KOH post-enrichment method was found to be effective as a 14 to 21 day cold enrichment method to recover *Y. enterocolitica* from meats and swine tongue (Doyle, 1983) (Table 2). KOH treatment was effective to screen out other background

microflora. This method had shortened incubation times of 1 to 3 days. The inoculum ranging from 1.8 to 12 cells/g meat was great enough for this method to recover Y. *enterocolitica* with the aerobic plate count from  $4.8 \times 10^5$  to  $7.1 \times 10^7$  CFU/g of meat.

PBS with 1% sorbitol and 0.15% bile salts (PSB) was found to be 10-fold more sensitive than only PBS to recover *Y. enterocolitica* from pork. Recovery was obtained with the inoculum level of 1000 CFU/ml (Mehlman et al., 1978) (Table 2). *Yersinia* strains tolerate 0.15% bile salts at 4°C (Mehlman et al., 1978). This method was also used to isolate *Y. enterocolitica* from ground beef and pork samples (Jiang et al., 2000) and there was no statistical difference between 4°C/3 week, 4°C/2 week, and 25°C/24 h. However, long incubation times and high number of background microorganisms are disadvantagious in this PSB enrichment (Hoorfar and Holmvig, 1999). PSB in combination with 0.5% KOH post-enrichment treatment was used to isolate *Y. enterocolitica* from hake fillets (Velázquez et al., 1996).

Phosphate buffer M/15, pH 7.6 is not as useful when the nutrients of foods are not provided, such as swabs (Feeley and Schiemann, 1984). Rather than phosphate buffer M/15, nutritional medium such as TSB or brain heart infusion (BHI) broth for cold enrichment was recommended due to their better enrichment effect (Van Pee and Stragier, 1979). Several researches have indicated that more nutrient media than inorganic buffers can reduce the time for cold enrichment (Feeley and Schiemann, 1984; Schiemann, 1982).

Modified rappaport broth (MRB) was proposed by Wauters (1973) (Table 2). This enrichment method can be applied only to recover serotypes O:3 and O:9. Certain

Enrichment	Incubation time and temperature	Plating media	Reference
PBS	6 weeks, 4°C	CIN	Letellier et al., 1999
PBS – KOH post- enrichment treatment	21 days, 4°C	MAC	Doyle et al., 1981
PBS (pH 7.2) – KOH post- enrichment treatment	1 to 3 days, 25°C	CIN, MAC	Doyle and Hugdahl, 1983
PBS with 1% sorbitol and 0.15% bile salts (PSB)	4 to 21 days, 4°C	MAC, 48 h, 26°C	Mehlman et al., 1978
MRB	2 days, 23°C	MAC with Twin 80; SS	Schiemann, 1979a; Van Noyen et al., 1980
MRB	7 days, 22°C	MAC	Schiemann, 1980a
Phosphate buffer (PB) as pre-enrichment and MRB as selective enrichment	PB : 14 days, 4°C MRB : 5 days, 23°C	MAC with Tween 80	Schiemann and Toma, 1978
Cooked meat media - MRB	Cooked meat: 14 days, 4°C MRB: 2 days, 23°C	MAC with Twin 80	Schiemann, 1979a
Modified selenite media	2 and 3 days, 22°C	MAC with Twin 80	Lee et al., 1980

Table 2. Enrichment media to isolate Y. enterocolitica

Enrichment	Incubation time and	Plating	Reference
	temperature	media	
YER – BOS	YER: 3 days, 10°C	CIN	Schiemann,
	BOS: 3-5 days, 22°C		1982
TSB - BOS	TSB: 7 days, 2°C	CIN	Schiemann,
	BOS: 5 days, 22°C		1983
ITC enrichment	2 or 3 days, 24°C	SSDC at	Wauters et
		30°C,24 h	al., 1988
TSB plus Polymyxin B and	3 days, 18°C	CIN	Landgraf et
Novobiocin		MAC	al., 1993
TSB including yeast extract and	3 days, 10°C – first	CIN	Toora et al.,
bile salts as first enrichment,	enrichment		1994b
then the addition of irgasan for	3 days, 22°C – second		
second enrichment	enrichment		
TSB including yeast extract and	24 h, 12°C as pre-	MAC,	Bhaduri et
bile salts as pre-enrichment, and	enrichment, then	then CR-	al., 1997
the addition of irgasan for	48 h, 12°C	BHO	
selective enrichment			
TSB containing bile salts, then	24 h, 12°C, then 24 h,	CR - BHO	Bhaduri and
another 24 h after the addition	12°C after the addition		Cottrell,
of irgasan	of irgasan		1997
Luria-Bertani-Bile Salts Irgasan	24 h, 12°C and re-	CIN	Hussein et
(LB-BSI) broth	incubate at 12°C for 48		al., 2001
	h after the addition of		
	irgasan		

Table 2. Continued.

serotypes, such as O:8, which is common in North America, and O:5, 27, can not be recovered by this method (Schiemann, 1983). This method was modified by the addition of more magnesium chloride and less malachite green than original rappaport broth (Wauters, 1973). This medium showed better recovery of O:3 from ground beef and pork (Schiemann, 1979a) (Table 2) than other methods, such as PBS with 1.0% mannitol (Christenson and Jansen, 1977), cooked meat broth and butterfield's phosphate buffer. This medium was effective enough to recover 35 cells. MRB recovered O:3 and O:9 successfully from clinical specimen in combination with SS agar (Van Noyen et al., 1980).

MRB, when incubated for 7 days at 22°C, gave higher percentages of *Y*. *enterocolitica* isolation from raw pork than two-step enrichment with PBS at 4°C for 21 days followed by MRB at room temperature for 2 days (Schiemann, 1980a) (Table 2). But, in another study, MRB enrichment alone was inferior to two-step enrichments of PSB at 4°C for 14 days and subsequent MRB at 22°C for 4 days to isolate *Y*. *enterocolitica* from pork tongues (Schiemann, 1982).

Phosphate buffer – MRB showed increased isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* from raw milk samples (Schiemann and Toma, 1978) (Table 2). The isolation rate of this method was much higher than rappaport broth, phosphate buffer, and cooked meat medium.

Three methods (direct plating, PSB-MRB, and cold enrichment in PSB for three weeks) were compared to isolate *Y. enterocolitica* from pig tonsils (Nesbakken and Kapperud, 1985). Cold enrichment in PSB was superior to other methods.

A two-step enrichment procedure with cooked meat medium at 4°C for 14 days and subsequent MRB at 23°C for 2 days (Table 2) showed higher recovery than other methods, including buffer methods or only cooked meat for isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* from raw milk (Schiemann, 1979a).

Two modified selenite media, sel (lower selenite concentration) and SEL (higher selenite concentration), were developed by Lee et al. (1980) (Table 2). They include phosphate buffer with Na<sub>2</sub>SeO<sub>3</sub> and carbenicillin. In the recovery of O:9 from pork, the SEL medium was more effective at an inoculum level of 200 CFU/g than MRB by Wauter (1973). Serotype O:8 was also recovered from beef and pork in selenite media, but not in MRB. PBS – KOH treatment was inferior to either selenite media or selenite – KOH at 200 CFU/g inoculum. KOH treatment resulted in more pure *Y. enterocolitica* culture on the plates (Lee et al., 1980).

Another two-step enrichment method of yeast extract – rose bengal (YER) enrichment at 10 °C for 3 days as pre-enrichment and bile-oxalate-sorbose (BOS) enrichment at 22°C for 3 to 5 days as the selective second enrichment was developed by Schiemann (1982) (Table 2). The recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* from vegetables-chicken baby food by these enrichments was better than by PSB at 4°C for 14 days –MRB at 22°C for 3 days. But, YER-BOS method is not effective for serotype O:5,27, compared to other pathogenic serotypes (Schiemann, 1982; Schiemann, 1983). A PSB-BOS procedure was also effective, but it takes more incubation time up to 19 days. Serotype O:8 was recovered by the YER-BOS method at an inoculum level of 80 to 90 CFU/g food. Increasing incubation time of BOS to 5 days was more effective. The use of YER at 4°C for 9 days was also effective for pork tongues (Schiemann, 1982). Even though various strains can be recovered, this method is not commonly used because of its complexity (Toora et al., 1994b).

TSB (2°C for 7 days as a pre-enrichment) with BOS (22°C for 5 days as a selective enrichment) (Table 2) was effective for recovery of serotype O:3, and the same enrichment except for 3 day incubation for BOS instead of 5 day was effective for recovery of O:8 from inoculated beef stew (Schiemann, 1983).

Irgasan-ticarcillin-potassium chlorate (ITC) enrichment derived from the MRB was developed by Wauters et al. (1988) (Table 2). Irgasan, ticarcillin, and potassium chlorate contribute to the selectivity of the medium (Wauters et al., 1988). But, this method may be efficient only for O:3 (Wauters et al., 1988). Recovery of O:9 from minced pork by ITC enrichment was unsatisfactory (De Zutter et al., 1994). Serotype O:9 is much more sensitive to potassium chlorate than serotype O:3. The addition of MgCl<sub>2</sub> and malachite green also inhibits the growth of O:9, compared to serotype O:3 which is unaffected (De Zutter et al., 1994).

ITC enrichment for 2 or 3 days at 24°C followed by plating on SSDC agar gave increased recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 from pork tongues compared to two-step and cold enrichments. But, it was less effective for nonpathogenic strains from ground pork. The use of SSDC agar for ITC enrichment was better for recovery than the use of CIN agar (Wauters et al., 1988). Harshness of irgasan present in both ITC enrichment and CIN agar may be the reason for ineffective recovery on CIN plates (Hoorfar and Holmvig, 1999).

24

In another study, the ITC enrichment also gave much higher recovery of O:3 strains from swine tonsils and mesenteric nodes than other methods containing ITC enrichment for 5 days, KOH-direct plating, and cold enrichment (De Giusti et al., 1995). The addition of supernatant of filtrate of a pork homogenate to ITC enrichment was found to be more effective for isolating O:3 strains than the direct addition of meat. Also, the addition of 10 g pork samples to 100 ml ITC enrichment resulted in higher isolation of Y. enterocolitica O:3 than the addition of 1 g (De Zutter et al., 1995). ITC enrichment was superior to PSB and YER – BOS enrichments (De Zutter et al., 1994). ITC enrichment is also well known in the isolation of Y. enterocolitica from swine faecal samples (Hoorfar and Holmvig, 1999). In a study to isolate Y. enterocolitica from swine faecal samples, PSB, PSB – MRB, and PSB - ITC enrichments were compared. PSB - ITC enrichment gave the highest proportion of positive samples (24%), while PSB resulted in lower recovery rate. Shorter incubation time (2 days) of ITC enrichment gave higher recovery than longer incubation time (10 and 24 days) (Hoorfar and Holmvig, 1999). However, the recovery of all pathogenic serotypes is still impossible by either YER-BOS or ITC enrichment (Landgraf et al., 1993).

TSB plus polymyxin (5 IU/ml) and novobiocin (10  $\mu$ g/ml) (TSPN) was proposed by Landgraf et al. (1993) in the isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* from raw milk (Table 2). On the use of TSPN, *Y. enterocolitica* O:3, O:5, O:8, and O:9 were recovered even at 10 CFU/ml milk from raw milk samples. This method was better than sorbitol bile salts (SB) broth. The TSPN method also gave higher recovery for pasteurized milk.

The enrichment developed by Toora et al. (1994b) is a modified TSB including 0.25% yeast extract and 0.2% bile salts incubated at 10°C for 3 days and then, the

addition of irgasan (4  $\mu$ g/ml) followed by another 3 days of incubation at 22°C (Table 2). Non-pathogenic *Y. enterocolitica* biotype 1A was isolated from ready-to-eat foods such as pasteurized chocolate milk, salad, and sandwich, and pathogenic O:3 from pork samples by this method, whereas none were isolated by cold enrichment of TSB with yeast extract for 14 days (Toora et al., 1994b).

TSB containing yeast extract, bile salts, and irgasan with the use of CR-BHO as plating media was developed by Bhaduri et al. (1997). TSB containing yeast extract and bile salts was incubated at 12°C for 24 h, then it was followed by another 48 h incubation at 12°C after the addition of irgasan (4  $\mu$ g/ml) (Bhaduri et al., 1997) (Table 2). This temperature is used as a compromise between the suppression of other background microflora by using the low temperature and the allowance for rapid growth of *Y*. *enterocolitica* compared to 4°C (Hussein et al., 2001). Presumptive *Y. enterocolitica* colonies were picked from MAC agars and then transferred on CR-BHO. Presumptive virulent *Y. enterocolitica* colonies were identified on CR-BHO. Plasmid-bearing virulent *Y. enterocolitica* was recovered in this enrichment at the inoculum level of 9 CFU/g pork samples. Eleven virulent O:3 strains were isolated from 30 naturally contaminated porcine tongues. The advantage of this method lies in recovering plasmid-bearing virulent *Y. enterocolitica* effectively from pork samples (Bhaduri et al., 1997).

The previous method was modified to shorten the procedure and time in the isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* from food surfaces (Bhaduri and Cottrell, 1997). TSB containing only bile salts was incubated at 12°C for 24 h. It was followed by another 24 h incubation after the addition of irgasan (Table 2). It eliminated presumptive colony
isolation step on MAC or CIN agars to prevent virulent plasmid loss. Virulent *Y. enterocolitica* colonies were easily differentiated on CR-BHO. They can be recovered at an initial inoculum level of 10 and 1 CFU/cm<sup>2</sup> on food surfaces such as pork chops, ground pork, cheese, and zucchini (Bhaduri and Cottrell, 1997).

Luria-Bertani-Bile Salts Irgasan (LB-BSI) broth is based on the use of cefsulodin, novobiocin, and irgasan with incubation temperature at 12°C (Hussein et al., 2001) (Table 2). LB-BSI significantly increased the recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* from oral and rectal swabs of pigs compared with cold enrichment in M/15 PBS and direct plating.

## Selective agents

Y. enterocolitica shows high tolerance to surface active agents such as bile salts, sodium desoxycholate, sodium taurocholate, Teepol 610, and Tergitol 7 (Schiemann, 1980b). Irgasan (2, 4, 4'-trichloro-2-hydroxydiphenyl ether), also known as Triclosan is very commonly used to selectively recover Y. enterocolitica from heavy background microorganisms (Fukushima, 1987; Schiemann, 1982; Wauters et al., 1988) and its selectivity was confirmed by Toora et al. (1994a). Irgasan is tolerated by Y. enterocolitica at the concentration which is inhibitory to some other members of Enterobacteriaceae like E. coli(Schiemann, 1980b). It is sometimes added after pre-enrichment because it can inhibit growth (Bhaduri et al., 1997). Y. enterocolitica is also relatively resistant to carbenicillin, novobiocin, and cefsulodin (Schiemann, 1980b). It is also highly tolerant to magnesium chloride. Selenite, the ingredient in selenite broth is tolerated at 1.0% (Schiemann, 1980b). Calcium chloride enhances the growth of Y. enterocolitica (Bhaduri et al., 1990; Toora et al., 1994a).

27

Each selective agent or its combinations of cefsulodin, irgasan, and novobiocin affects the growth of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 differently (Logue et al., 2000). The lag phase duration for growth of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 was generally longer in the presence of cefsulodin, irgasan, or novobiocin in *Yersinia*-selective broth base (CIN NA). Also, the lag phase of plasmid-bearing O:3 (P+) was longer than plasmidless O:3 (P-) in CIN NA with both cefsulodin and novobiocin, but vice versa in CIN NA with irgasan or full supplements. When the growth rates were compared at 37°C, P- grew significantly faster than P+ in CIN NA with most combinations of cefsulodin, irgasan, and novobiocin except that P+ grew faster than P- in CIN NA with CIN supplement (Logue et al., 2000). Irgasan has been normally added in the second step during two-step enrichments (Bhaduri et al., 1997; Schiemann, 1982; Toora et al., 1994b), but interestingly the addition of cefsulodin, irgasan, or novobiocin to enrichment was found to increase the growth rate of *Y. enterocolitica* (Logue et al., 2000).

## Green fluorescent protein

Green fluorescent proteins (GFPs) are from a Pacific Northwest jellyfish, *Aequorea victoria. Aequorea* GFP is a protein of 238 amino acid residues. It has received attention because it was the first general method to create strong visible fluorescence, which emits green fluorescence in that excitation is at 395 nm with an emission maximum at 508 nm (Cubitt et al., 1995).

It has been used as a reporter of gene expression, tracers of cell lineage or a protein tag or to monitor protein-protein interactions (Cubitt et al., 1995). GFP was also first used to visualize dynamic cellular events. Another advantage of GFP is that no factors or substrates for the generation of its green light are required and no considerable toxicity of GFP was observed. High throughput screens for GFP become possible by simple visual inspection (Misteli and Spector, 1997). Chromophore formation is not species-specific.

On expression of GFP in *E. coli*, fluorescent bacteria were detected on plates containing the inducer isopropyl- $\beta$ -D-thiogalactoside (IPTG), upon illumination with a longwave UV source (Chalfie et al., 1994).

Transformed microorganisms with GFP plasmid have been used to evaluate antimicrobials (Ajjarapu and Shelef, 1999), the infiltration of bacteria to food matrix (Burnett et al., 2000; Pao et al., 2001), or spatial location of them on foods (Gandhi et al., 2001). However, transformation of *Y. enterocolitica* with GFP plasmid has not been performed for these purposes. This is a useful method which should be given increased use in the food microbiology laboratory. References

- Ackers, M. L., S. Schoenfeld, J. Markman, M. G. Smith, M. A. Nicholson, W. DeWitt, D. N. Cameron, P. M. Griffin, and L. Slutsker. 2000. An outbreak of *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:8 infections associated with pasteurized milk. J. Infect. Dis. 181:1834-1837.
- Ahvonen, P. 1972. Human Yersiniosis in Finland. Annals of clinical research. 4:30-38.
- Ajjarapu, S., and L. A. Shelef. 1999. Fate of pGFP-bearing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in ground beef at 2 and 10°C and effects of lactate, diacetate, and citrate. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65:5394-5397.
- Aleksic, S., and J. Bockemühl. 1999. Yersinia and other Enterobacteriaceae, p. 483-496. In P. R. Murray (ed.), Manual of clinical microbiology, ASM Press, Washington, D.C.
- Andersen, J. K., R. Sørensen, and M. Glensbjerg. 1991. Aspects of the epidemiology of *Yersinia enterocolitica*: a review. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 13:231-238.
- Aulisio, C. C. G., I. J. Mehlman, and A. C. Sanders. 1980. Alkali method for rapid recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* from foods. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 39:135-140.
- Berche, P. A., and P. B. Carter. 1982. Calcium requirement and virulence of *Yersinia* enterocolitica. J. Med. Microbiol. 15:277-284.
- Bercovier, H., J. Brault, S. Cohen, R. Melis, T. Lambert, and H. H. Mollaret. 1984. A new isolation medium for the recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from environmental sources. Curr. Microbiol. 10:121-124.
- Bhaduri, S. 1999. Yersinia enterocolitica, p. 2350-2358. In R. K. Robinson, C. A. Batt, and P. D. Patel (ed.), Encyclopedia of food microbiology, vol. 3. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Bhaduri, S., and B. Cottrell. 1997. Direct detection and isolation of plasmid-bearing virulent serotypes of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from various foods. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63:4952-4955.
- Bhaduri, S., B. Cottrell, and A. R. Pickard. 1997. Use of a single procedure for selective enrichment, isolation, and identification of plasmid-bearing virulent *Yersinia enterocolitica* of various serotypes from pork samples. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63:1657-1660.

- Bhaduri, S., C. Turner-Jones, M. M. Taylor, and R. V. Lachica. 1990. Simple assay of calcium dependency for virulent plasmid-bearing clones of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Clin. Microbiol. 28:798-800.
- Bissett, M. L., C. Powers, S. L. Abbott, and J. M. Janda. 1990. Epidemiologic investigations of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and related species: sources, frequency, and serogroup distribution. J. Clin. Microbiol. 28:910-912.
- Black, R. E., R. J. Jackson, T. Tsai, M. Medvesky, M. Shayegani, J. C. Feeley, K. I. MacLeod, and A. M. Wakelee. 1978. Epidemic *Yersinia enterocolitica* infection due to contaminated chocolate milk. N. Engl. J. Med. 298:76-79.
- Bottone, E. J. 1999. *Yersinia enterocolitica*: overview and epidemiologic correlates. Microb. Infect. 1:323-333.
- Burnett, S. L., J. Chen, and L. R. Beuchat. 2000. Attachment of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to the surfaces and internal structures of apples as detected by confocal scanning laser microscopy. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66:4679-4687.
- Chalfie, M., Y. Tu, G. Euskirchen, W. W. Ward, and D. C. Prasher. 1994. Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression. Science. 263:802-805.
- Chester, B., and G. Stotzky. 1976. Temperature-dependent cultural and biochemical characteristics of rhamnose-positive *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Clin. Microbiol. 3:119-127.
- Christensen, S. G. 1987. The *Yersinia enterocolitica* situation in Denmark. Contr. Microbiol. Immunol. 9:93-97.
- Christenson, E. H., and G. P. Jansen. 1977. The isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from stool specimens. Abstr. Annu. Meet. Am. Soc. Microbiol. 77:42
- Cubitt, A. B., R. Heim, S. R. Adams, A. E. Boyd, L. A. Gross, and R. Y. Tsien. 1995. Understanding, improving and using green fluorescent proteins. Trends Biochem. 20:448-455.
- De Boer, E. 1992. Isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from foods. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 17:75-84.
- De Boer, E., B. J. Hartog, and J. Oosterom. 1982. Occurrence of *Yersinia* enterocolitica in poultry products. J. Food Prot. 45:322-325.
- De Giusti, M., E. De Vito, A. Serra, B. Quattrucci, A. Boccia, L. Pacifico, A. Ranucci, G. Ravagnan, and C. Chiesa. 1995. Occurrence of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in slaughtered pigs and pork products. Contr. Microbiol. Immunol. 13:126-129.

- De Zutter, L., L. Le Mort, M. Janssens, and G. Wauters. 1994. Short-comings of irgasan ticarcillin chlorate broth for the enrichment of *Yersinia enterocolitica* biotype 2, serotype 9 from meat. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 23:231-237.
- Doyle, M. P., and M. B. Hugdahl. 1983. Improved procedure for recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from meats. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 45:127-135.
- Doyle, M. P., M. B. Hugdahl, and S. L. Taylor. 1981. Isolation of virulent *Yersinia* enterocolitica from porcine tongues. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 42:661-666.
- Eiss, J. 1975. Selective culturing of *Yersinia enterocolitica* at low temperature. Scand. J. Infect. Dis. 7:249-251.
- Escudero, M. E., L. Velázquez, and A. M. Stefanini de Guzmán. 1995. Alternative enrichment techniques for *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Contr. Microbiol. Immunol. 13:150-152.
- Feeley, J. C., and D. A. Schiemann. 1984. Yersinia. p. 351-367. In M. L. Speck (ed.), Compendium of methods for the microbiological examination of foods. American Public Health Association, Washington, DC.
- Fredriksson-Ahomaa, M., J. Björkroth, S. Hielm, and H. Korkeala. 2000. Prevalence and characterization of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in pig tonsils from different slaughterhouses. Food Microbiol. 17:93-101.
- Fredriksson-Ahomaa, M., U. Lyhs, T. Korte, and H. Korkeala. 2001. Prevalence of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in food samples at retail level in Finland. Archiv für Lebensmittelhygiene. 52:66-68.
- Fukushima, H. 1985. Direct isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* from meat. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 50:710-712.
- Fukushima, H. 1987. New selective agar medium for isolation of virulent *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Clin. Microbiol. 25:1068-1073.
- Fukushima, H. 1992. Direct isolation of *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* from fresh water in Japan. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 58:2688-2690.
- Fukushima, H., and M. Gomyoda. 1986a. Inhibition of Yersinia enterocolitica serotype O3 by natural microflora of pork. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 51:990-994.
- Fukushima, H., and M. Gomyoda. 1986b. Growth of *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* and *Yersinia enterocolitica* biotype 3B serotype O3 inhibited on cefsulodinirgasan-novobiocin agar. J. Clin. Microbiol. 24:116-120.

- Fukushima, H., M. Tsubokura, K. Otsuki, and Y. Kawaoka. 1984. Biochemical heterogeneity of serotype O3 strains of 700 *Yersinia* strains isolated from humans, other mammals, flies, animal feed, and river water. Curr. Microbiol. 11:149-154.
- Funk, J. A., H. F. Troutt, R. E. Isaacson, and C. P. Fossler. 1998. Prevalence of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in groups of swine at slaughter. J. Food Prot. 61:677-682.
- Gandhi, M., S. Golding, S. Yaron, and K. R. Matthews. 2001. Use of green fluorescent protein expressing *Salmonella* Stanley to investigate survival, spatial location, and control on alfalfa sprouts. J. Food Prot. 64:1891-1898.
- Gemski, P., J. R. Lazere, and T. Casey. 1980. Plasmid associated with pathogenicity and calcium dependency of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Infect. Immun. 27:682-685.
- Gönül, Ş. A., and M. Karapinar. 1991. The microbiological quality of drinking water supplies of 1 zmir city: the incidence of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 13:69-74.
- Greenwood, M. H., and W. L. Hooper. 1990. Excretion of *Yersinia* spp. associated with consumption of pasteurized milk. Epidemiol. Infect. 104:345-350.
- Hanna, M. O., J. C. Stewart, Z. L. Carpenter, and C. Vanderzant. 1977. Heat resistance of *Yersinia enterocolitica* in skim milk. J. Food Sci. 42:1134-1135.
- Hanna, M. O., D. L. Zink, Z. L. Carpenter, and C. Vanderzant. 1976. Yersinia enterocolitica-like organisms from vacuum-packaged beef and lamb. J. Food Sci. 41:1254-1256.
- Head, C. B., D. A. Whitty, and S. Ratnam. 1982. Comparative study of selective media for recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Clin. Microbiol. 16:615-621.
- Hoorfar, J., and C. B. F. Holmvig. 1999. Evaluation of culture methods for rapid screening of swine faecal samples for *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:3/biotype 4. J. Vet. Med. B 46:189-198.
- Hussein, H. M., S. G. Fenwick, and J. S. Lumsden. 2001. A rapid and sensitive method for the detection of *Yersinia enterocolitica* strains from clinical samples. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 33:445-449.
- Jay, J. M. 2000. Modern food microbiology. Aspen publisher, Gaithersburg, Md.
- Jiang, G. C., D. Kang, and D. Y. C. Fung. 2000. Enrichment procedures and plating media for isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Food Prot. 63:1483-1486.

- Johannessen, G. S., G. Kapperud, and H. Kruse. 2000. Occurrence of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in Norwegian pork products determined by a PCR method and a traditional culturing method. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 54:75-80.
- Kapperud, G. 1981. Survey of the reservoirs of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and *Yersinia enterocolitica*-like bacteria in Scandinavia. Acta path. Microbiol. Scand. Sect. B. 89:29-35.
- Kapperud, G. 1991. Yersinia enterocolitica in food hygiene. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 12:53-66.
- Kushal, R., and S. K. Anand. 2001. Isolation, biochemical characterization and antibiotic susceptibility of *Yersinia enterocolitica* isolates from milk. J. Food Sci. Technol. 38:129-134.
- Lambertz, S. T., A. Ballagi-Pordány, A. Nilsson, P. Norberg, and M.-L. Danielsson-Tham. 1996. A comparison between a PCR method and a conventional culture method for detecting pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in food. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 81:303-308.
- Landgraf, M., S. T. Iaria, and D. P. Falcão. 1993. An improved enrichment procedure for the isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and related species from milk. J. Food Prot. 56:447-450.
- Lassen, J. 1972. Yersinia enterocolitica in drinking-water. Scand. J. Infect. Dis. 4:125-127.
- Lee, W. H. 1977a. An assessment of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and its presence in foods. J. Food Prot. 40:486-489.
- Lee, W. H. 1977b. Two plating media modified with Tween 80 for isolating *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 33:215-216.
- Lee, L. A., A. R. Gerber, D. R. Lonsway, J. D. Smith, G. P. Carter, N. D. Puhr, C. M. Parrish, R. K. Sikes, R. J. Finton, and R. V. Tauxe. 1990. Yersinia enterocolitica O:3 infections in infants and children, associated with the household preparation of chitterlings. N. Engl. J. Med. 322:984-987.
- Lee, W. H., M. E. Harris, D. McClain, R. E. Smith, and R. W. Johnston. 1980. Two modified selenite media for the recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from meats. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 39:205-209.
- Lee, W. H., C. Vanderzant, and N. Stern. 1981. The occurrence of *Yersinia* enterocolitica in foods, p. 162-171. In E. J. Bottone (ed.), *Yersinia enterocolitica*. CRC Press.

- Letellier, A., S. Messier, and S. Quessy. 1999. Prevalence of *Salmonella* spp. and *Yersinia enterocolitica* in finishing swine at Canadian abattoirs. J. Food Prot. 62:22-25.
- Logue, C. M., J. J. Sheridan, D. A. McDowell, I. S. Blair, and T. Hegarty. 2000. The effect of temperature and selective agents on the growth of *Yersinia enterocolitica* serotype O:3 in pure culture. J. Appl. Microbiol. 88:1001-1008.
- McIver, M. A., and R. M. Pike. 1934. Chronic glanders-like infection of face caused by an organism resembling Flavobacterium pseudomallei Whitmore. Clin. Miscellany. 1: 16-21.
- Mead, P. S., L. Slutsker, V. Dietz, L. F. McCaig, J. S. Bresee, C. Shapiro, P. M. Griffin, and R. V. Tauxe. 1999. Food-related illness and death in the United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 5:607-625.
- Mehlman, I. J., C. C. G. Aulisio, and A. C. Sanders. 1978. Problems in the recovery and identification of *Yersinia* from food. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 61:761-771.
- Metchock, B., D. R. Lonsway, G. P. Carter, L. A. Lee, and J. E. McGowan. Jr. 1991. *Yersinia enterocolitica*: A frequent seasonal stool isolate from children at an urban hospital in the southeast United States. J. Clin. Microbiol. 29:2868-2869.
- Miller, V., and S. Falkow. 1988. Evidence for two genetic loci in *Yersinia enterocolitica* that can promote invasion of epithelial cells. Infect. Immun. 56:1242-1248.
- Misteli, T., and D. L. Spector. 1997. Applications of the green fluorescent protein in cell biology and biotechnology. Nature Biotechnol. 15:961-964.
- Mollaret, H. H., H. Bercovier, and J. M. Alonso. 1979. Summary of the data received at the WHO reference center for *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Contr. Microbiol. Immunol. 5:174-184.
- Morse, D. L., M. Shayegani, and R. J. Gallo. 1984. Epidemiologic investigation of a *Yersinia* camp outbreak linked to a food handler. Am. J. Publ. Health 74:589-592.
- Nesbakken, T., and G. Kapperud. 1985. Yersinia enterocolitica and Yersinia enterocolitica-like bacteria in Norwegian slaughter pigs. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 1:301-309.
- Nesbakken, T., G. Kapperud, K. Dommarsnes, M. Skurnik, and E. Hornes. 1991. Comparative study of a DNA hybridization method and two isolation procedures for detection of *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:3 in naturally contaminated pork products. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57:389-394.

- Nikolova, S., Y. Tzvetkov, H. Najdenski, and A. Vesselinova. 2001. Isolation of pathogenic *Yersiniae* from wild animals in Bulgaria. J. Vet. Med. B. 48:203-209.
- Ostroff, S. M., G. Kapperud, L. C. Hutwagner, T. Nesbakken, N. H. Bean, J. Lassen, and R. V. Tauxe. 1994. Sources of sporadic *Yersinia enterocolitica* infections in Norway: a prospective case-control study. Epidemiol. Infect. 112:133-141.
- Pai, C. H., and V. Mors. 1978. Production of enterotoxin by *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Infect. Immun. 19:908-911.
- Pao, S., C. L. Davis, and M. E. Parish. 2001. Microscopic observation and processing validation of fruit sanitizing treatments for the enhanced microbiological safety of fresh orange juice. J. Food Prot. 64:310-314.
- Peixotto, S. S., G. Finne, M. O. Hanna, and C. Vanderzant. 1979. Presence, growth and survival of *Yersinia enterocolitica* in oysters, shrimp and crab. J. Food Prot. 42:974-981.
- Rho, M., M. Chung, J. Lee, and J. Park. 2001. Monitoring of microbial hazards at farms, slaughterhouses, and processing lines of swine in Korea. J. Food Prot. 64:1388-1391.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1979a. Enrichment methods for recovery of *Yersinia* enterocolitica from foods and raw milk. Contr. Microbiol. Immunol. 5:212-227.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1979b. Synthesis of a selective agar medium for *Yersinia* enterocolitica. Can. J. Microbiol. 25:1298-1304.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1980a. Isolation of toxigenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* from retail pork products. J. Food Prot. 43:360-365.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1980b. *Yersinia enterocolitica*: observations on some growth characteristics and response to selective agents. Can. J. Microbiol. 26:1232-1240.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1981. *Yersinia enterocolitica* isolated from throats of swine in eastern and western Canada. Can. J. Microbiol. 27:1326-1333.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1982. Development of a two-step enrichment procedure for recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from food. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 43:14-27.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1983. Comparison of enrichment and plating media for recovery of virulent strains of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from inoculated beef stew. J. Food Prot. 46:957-964.

- Schiemann, D. A. 1989. Yersinia enterocolitica and Yersinia pseudotuberculosis, p.602-640. In M. P. Doyle (ed.), Foodborne bacterial pathogens, M. Dekker, New York.
- Schiemann, D. A., and S. Toma. 1978. Isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from raw milk. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 35:54-58.
- Schlelfstein, J., and M. B. Coleman. 1939. An unidentified microorganism resembling *B. lignieri* and *Past. Pseudoruberculosis* and pathogenic for man. New York State J. Med. 39:1749-1753.
- Stern, N. J., M. D. Pierson, and A. W. Kotula. 1980. Effects of pH and sodium chloride on *Yersinia enterocolitica* growth at room and refrigeration temperatures. J. Food Sci. 45:64-67.
- Stock, I., and B. Wiedemann. 1999. An in-vitro study of the antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and the definition of a database. J. Antimicrob. Chemoth. 43:37-45.
- Tacket, C. O., J. Ballard, N. Harris, J. Allard, C. Nolan, T. Quan, and M. L. Cohen. 1985. An outbreak of *Yersinia enterocolitica* infections caused by contaminated tofu (soybean curd). Am. J. Epidemiol. 121:705-711.
- Thippareddi, H., R. K. Phebus, D. Y. C. Fung, and C. L. Kastner. 1995. Use of universal preenrichment medium supplemented with oxyrase<sup>™</sup> for the simultaneous recovery of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Rapid Meth. Aut. Microbiol. 4:37-50.
- Toora, S., E. Budu-Amoako, R. F. Ablett, and J. Smith. 1994a. Evaluation of different antimicrobial agents used as selective supplements for isolation and recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 77:67-72.
- Toora, S., E. Budu-Amoako, R. F. Ablett, and J. Smith. 1994b. Isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from ready-to-eat foods and pork by a simple two step procedure. Food Microbiol. 11:369-374.
- Van Noyen, R., J. Vandepitte, and G. Wauters. 1980. Nonvalue of cold enrichment of stools for isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* serotypes 3 and 9 from patients. J. Clin. Microbiol. 11:127-131.
- Van Pee, W., and J. Stragier. 1979. Evaluation of some cold enrichment and isolation media for the recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek. 45:465-477.

- Velázquez, L. D. C., M. E. Escudero, and A. M. S. De Guzmán. 1996. Prevalence of Yersinia enterocolitica in hake (Merluccius hubbsi) fillets. J. Food Prot. 59:781-783.
- Vidon, D. J. M., and C. L. Delmas. 1981. Incidence of *Yersinia enterocolitica* in raw milk in eastern France. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:355-359.
- Wauters, G. 1973. Improved methods for the isolation and the recognition of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Contr. Microbiol. Immunol. 2:68-70.
- Wauters, G., V. Goossens, M. Janssens, and J. Vandepitte. 1988. New enrichment method for isolation of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* serogroup O:3 from pork. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 54:851-854.
- Zen-Yoji, H., T. Maruyama, S. Sakai, S. Kimura, T. Mizuno, and T. Momose. 1973. An outbreak of enteritis due to *Yersinia enterocolitica* occurring at a junior high school. Japan. J. Microbiol. 17:220-222.

## Part II:

# Evaluation of enrichment methods for recovery of

Yersinia enterocolitica O:3 and O:8 from swine feeds

## Abstract

Swine are major reservoirs of Yersinia enterocolitica and pigs are easily colonized through oral infections. The objective of this study was to evaluate five different enrichment methods to recover Y. enterocolitica from swine feeds since optimal methods for isolation of Y. enterocolitica are not available for farm samples having a heavy background microflora. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica from swine feeds using enrichment was evaluated with an inoculum level of 1000, 100, and 10 CFU/g feed. Enrichment media evaluated included: Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) at 4°C, PBS with sorbitol (1%) and bile salts (0.15%) (PSB) at 4°C and 21°C, ITC enrichment at 22°C and tryptic soy broth with polymyxin B(5 IU/ml) and novobiocin (10  $\mu$ g/ml) (TSBPN) at 18°C. Incubation periods for enrichment were evaluated from 24 h up to 6 weeks. CIN, MacConkey (MAC) and SSDC agar plates were used for differential plating. KOH treatments at concentrations of 0.25% to 0.13% were evaluated. PBS at 4°C and PSB at 4°C or 21°C were not effective for recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3 and O:8 from swine feeds. KOH treatment did not generally improve recovery of Y. enterocolitica in the methods studied except for recovery of O:8 from MAC agars after two day enrichment in TSBPN. TSBPN at 18°C with 24-h incubation was better than any other methods evaluated for recovery of both O:3 and O:8, which showed good recovery up to 10 and 1000 CFU/g feed for O:3 (89%) and O:8 (100%), respectively. ITC enrichment gave good recovery (56%) of serotype O:3 up to 10 CFU/g feed, but was not effective for recovery of O:8. CIN agar plates were preferred in this study due to the distinctive colony morphology and high selectivity. Overall, optimal recovery of Y. enterocolitica from

swine feeds, based on these data, was achieved using TSBPN enrichment at 18°C with incubation for 24 h followed by differential plating on CIN agar at 30°C for 24 h.

## Introduction

Foodborne illness caused by *Yersinia enterocolitica* is estimated at 96,000 cases in the United States annually (Mead et al., 1999). It is characterized as a psychrotrophic bacterium (Jay, 2000). *Y. enterocolitica* has been isolated from a wide range of foods such as raw milk, pork, chicken, oysters, shrimp, and crab (De Boer et al., 1982; De Boer and Nouws, 1991; Peixotto et al., 1979; Schiemann and Toma, 1978). Swine is known as a major source of pathogenic *Y. enterocolitica* in human, while the majority of environmental *Y. enterocolitica* isolates are nonpathogenic (Bottone, 1997; Jay, 2000).

Monitoring the environment of swine farms should be important to find out the sources for *Y. enterocolitica* infection of swine. These data are necessary to begin control programs for the foodborne pathogen on the farm with the goal of eventually safeguarding pork products from being contaminated by the pathogen.

Swine feeds may be a source of infection to swine because swine are normally orally infected and swine tongue is a major source of *Y. enterocolitica* (Doyle and Hugdahl, 1983).

Since foods have normally small number of *Y. enterocolitica* and large number of contaminating bacteria (Thippareddi et al., 1995) and the growth of *Y. enterocolitica* is normally masked by background microflora (Aulisio et al., 1980), the development of efficient enrichment methods has been difficult. Several isolation methods have been produced, however, no simple, effective and single method has still been found in recovery of a wide range of *Y. enterocolitica* from swine feeds.

42

In this study, five different enrichment methods and three different agar plates were evaluated in the isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8, which are most prevalent in Europe, Canada, or the United States from swine feeds.

### Materials and Methods

#### Yersinia enterocolitica culture

Two Y. enterocolitica strains were used in this study. Y. enterocolitica serotype O:8, ATCC 9610 was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA, USA). Y. enterocolitica GER-C, serotype O:3 P+ was supplied by Dr. S. Bhaduri (USDA, ARS, ERRC, Philadelphia, PA, USA). The stock cultures were subcultured onto brain heart infusion (BHI) agar slants and maintained in the refrigerator at 4°C.

#### Swine feed samples

Swine feed samples, grower finisher feeds freshly made were collected from either the Blount unit (Manager : Danny Sutton) at Knoxville station, Tennessee Agricultural Experimental Station or JARTU (Johnson Animal Research & Teaching Unit) at Knoxville, TN. Upon arrival, the feed samples were refrigerated. The grower finisher feeds were composed of corn (72.2%), soybean meal (SBM) (19.9%), 540 base mix (2.5%), 95555 lean pak (lysine) (5.0%), medication aprolon apromic (0.2%), and tylan 10 (0.2%). In this study, no antibiotics were added to the feeds sampled.

#### Preparation of inocula and inoculation of samples

One loopful of *Y. enterocolitica* cultures, either serotype O:3 or O:8 on BHI agar slants was inoculated into 10 ml BHI broth, and incubated at 21°C for 21 to 24 h to provide a cell density of  $10^8$  CFU/ml. Afterwards, ten fold serial dilutions were made in

0.85% saline subsequently to make an inoculum of 10000 CFU/ml, 1000 CFU/ml or 100 CFU/ml saline. One ml of the inoculum, either O:3 or O:8, was spiked to 10 g swine feed samples, which resulted in the inoculum level of 1000 CFU/g feed, 100 CFU/g feed, or 10 CFU/g feed, respectively. For 25 g feed samples, 2.5 ml of the inoculum saline was spiked to maintain same conditions.

In the first study, five different enrichment procedures were evaluated with inoculum level of 1000 CFU/g feed on each serotype O:3 and O:8. Then, only enrichment procedures which showed good recovery were tested for reduced inoculum level of 100 CFU/g feed. Similarly, only procedures giving good recovery at higher inoculation were evaluated at 10 CFU/g feed. During this research, three feed samples in triplicate were used for each treatment.

#### Enrichments

Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (0.119 mol/l) (Letellier et al., 1999) (Fisher scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ 07410), PBS with 1.0% sorbitol and 0.15% bile salts (PSB) (Nesbakken et al., 1991), ITC enrichment (Wauters et al., 1988), and TSB (BBL, Cockeysville, MD 21030) plus Polymyxin B Sulfate (5 IU/ml) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO 63178) and Novobiocin (10  $\mu$ g/ml) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO 63178) (TSBPN) (Landgraf et al., 1993) were used in this study. Reasonable modifications were tried for better recovery. Each five different enrichment method, based on mentioned enrichments, was spiked with specific inoculum of *Y. enterocolitica*, ranging from 1000 CFU/g feed to 10 CFU/g feed of either O:3 or O:8 serotype and compared for recovery. Whirl-pak plastic bags (Nasco) fitted with nylon mesh filters were used as enrichment containers. Five different enrichment procedures are outlined in Table 3. For methods 2 and 5, two

No.	Enrichment	Plates	Confirmation
1	10 g sample is put in 90 ml PBS (0.119 mol/l) -	CIN agar <sup>a</sup>	TSI agar, Sucrose
	pH 7.6.		utilization,
	Incubate at 4°C up to 6 weeks		Rhamnose
2	(1) One-step: 10 g sample is put in 90 ml ITC	CIN agar <sup>a</sup>	Urease,
	enrichment. Incubate up to 10 days at 22°C.	SSDC agar	Simmons
	(2) Two-step: Incubate pre-ITC enrichment <sup><math>c</math></sup> for	at 21°C for	ONPG,
	15 h. Transfer 1 ml to ITC enrichment and	24 h	Oxidase
	reincubate.		
3	25 g sample is put in 225 ml PBS with 1.0%	CIN agar <sup>a</sup>	
	sorbitol and 0.15% bile salts (PSB).		
	Incubate at room temperature (21±1°C).		
4	25 g sample is put in 225ml PSB.	CIN agar <sup>a</sup>	
	Incubate at 4°C up to 6 weeks.	MAC agar <sup>b</sup>	
5	(1) One-step: 10 g sample is put in 90 ml TSB	CIN agar <sup>a</sup>	
	plus Polymyxin B Sulfate(5 IU/ml) and	MAC agar <sup>b</sup>	
	Novobiocin(10 $\mu$ g/ml) – TSBPN.		
	Incubate at 18°C up to 4 days.		
	(2) Two-step: Incubate TSB for 15 h.		
	Transfer 1 ml to TSBPN and reincubate.		

Table 3. Experimental enrichment and isolation methods for Y. enterocolitica

<sup>*a*</sup> Incubation at 30 to 32°C for 24 h.

<sup>*b*</sup> Incubation at  $35 \pm 2$ °C for 20 to 24 h.

<sup>c</sup> ITC enrichment omitting irgasan, ticarcillin, and potassium chlorate.

different enrichment procedures, one-step and two-steps were conducted based on the advice of Dr. S. Bhaduri (Personal communication) to prevent selective ingredients from inhibiting the onset of growth of *Y. enterocolitica* in enrichments. One positive and one negative control were accompanied in most case. Positive control included both enrichment and inoculum without feed samples, and negative control included both feed samples and enrichment without inoculum.

#### KOH post-enrichment treatment

KOH post-enrichment treatments were done in some experiments to compare its effectiveness for better recovery. Potassium hydroxide (KOH) pellets were dissolved in 0.5 or 0.85% NaCl. The treatments included 0.5 ml enrichment broth in 0.25% KOH of 4.5 ml for 20 and 30 s, 0.5 ml enrichment in 0.13% KOH of 4.5 ml for 30 s, and 0.5 ml enrichment in 0.5% KOH of 0.5 ml for 30 s.

#### **Plating media**

After incubation of enrichment, each loopful of enrichment was streaked onto each plate to isolate *Y. enterocolitica* colonies, then the plates were incubated.

The following plating media were used in this study.

(1) CIN agar : *Yersinia* selective agar base (Difco, Sparks, MD 21152) with *Yersinia* antimicrobic supplement CN (Difco, Sparks, MD 21152).

(2) MAC agar (Difco, Sparks, MD 21152).

(3) SSDC agar : Salmonella-shigella agar (BBL, Cockeysville, MD 21030) with 1% sodium deoxycholate (Acros organics, NJ) and 0.1% calcium chloride (Fisher scientific, Fair lawn, NJ 07410).

(4) Modified CIN agar : CIN with Polymyxin B Sulfate (5 IU/ml).

#### **Confirmation of presumptive colonies**

Biochemical tests were done to confirm presumptive colonies of *Y. enterocolitica*. Typical colonies on plates were inoculated onto triple sugar iron (TSI) media (BBL, Cockeysville, MD 21030), sucrose and rhamnose purple broth agar (purple broth with 0.8% sugar and 1.5% agar) to confirm *Y. enterocolitica* colonies. For colonies which showed typical biochemical reactions of *Y. enterocolitica*, additional tests were conducted such as urease, simmons citrate, o-Nitrophenyl-beta-D-galactopyranoside (ONPG), and oxidase tests. Typical biochemical reactions of *Y. enterocolitica* serotype O:8, ATCC 9610 and *Y. enterocolitica* GER-C, serotype O:3 are listed in Table 4.

#### Statistical analysis

A chi-square analysis (alpha = 0.05) was used to find differences in recovery or isolation rate of *Y. enterocolitica* over treatment effects such as enrichments, plates, and potassium hydroxide. The presence or absence of *Y. enterocolitica* colonies on each plate was calculated as categorical data. SAS Proc FREQ (SAS 8.2, Cary, NC 27513) was used. The only  $2\times 2$  contingency table was used for the relationship between 2 variables throughout the study (Kachigan, 1986).

The chi-square  $(\chi^2)$  statistic was calculated to assess how much the observed distribution of frequencies in the cells in the contingency table differs from that which would be expected (Orr, 1995).

 $\chi^2$  statistic =  $\Sigma (f - F)^2 / F$ , taken over all cells.

f is the observed frequency in the cell, and F is the expected frequency in the cell.

Tests	Reactions
TSI	A/A, no gas
Sucrose	+
Rhamnose	-
Urease	+
Simmons citrate	1
ONPG	+
Oxidase	1

Table 4. Biochemical characteristics of *Y. enterocolitica* serotype O:8, ATCC 9610 and *Y. enterocolitica* GER-C, serotype O:3

The value of  $\chi^2 = 3.841$  for degrees of freedom (df = 1) and for significance level (P = 0.05) was used to reject the null hypothesis (Kachigan, 1986). When the data set was not large enough for chi-square tests, the Fisher's exact test was performed.

## Results

#### Inoculum level of 1000 CFU/g feed

Five different enrichment procedures were compared at this inoculum level for each serotype O:3 and O:8 in separate enrichments.

Method 1, 10 g sample and 90 ml PBS at 4°C did not recover *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8 (Table 5). Except sample 3 inoculated with serotype O:8 on day 35, no *Y. enterocolitica* was recovered in up to 42 days. Also, KOH post-enrichment treatment was added before plating to reduce background microflora on the plates based on alkali resistant characteristics of *Y. enterocolitica*, but it was not successful (Table 5).

ITC enrichment method as method 2 was successful in recovery of serotype O:3 (Table 6). All samples were positive for the detection of *Y. enterocolitica* up to day 3, and day 1 resulted in significantly higher recovery rate than day 3 ( $\chi^2_1$  = 18.0000, P < 0.05). KOH post-enrichment treatment did not improve recovery. Furthermore, KOH had a negative effect on recovery ( $\chi^2_1$  = 7.1111, P < 0.05). No difference was found in isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* between CIN and SSDC plates up to day 3 ( $\chi^2_1$  = 0.5000, P > 0.40). There was a large difference in recovery efficiency of ITC enrichment between O:3 and O:8. Serotype O:8 did not have good recovery in ITC enrichment (Table 7). KOH treatment was ineffective also. *Y. enterocolitica* O:8 was recovered from only one sample Table 5. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8, 1000 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml PBS at 4°C with KOH<sup>*a*</sup> and without KOH post-enrichment treatment followed by plating on CIN agar

					Recove	ry (%) <sup>b</sup>				
Sample	Day 7	Day	/ 14	Day	y 21	Day	y 28	Day	y 35	Day 42
	O:8	O:3 <sup>c</sup>	$O:8^c$	0:3	O:8	O:3	O:8	O:3	O:8	O:8
# 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# 3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	33	0
+ control	N/A	0	N/A	0	N/A	0	N/A	0	N/A	N/A
- control	N/A	0	N/A	0	N/A	0	N/A	0	N/A	N/A

<sup>*a*</sup> No *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 was detected from day 14 to 35 from 0.5 ml enrichment gently mixed in 0.13% KOH of 4.5 ml for 30 s.

No Y. enterocolitica O:8 was detected from day 7 to 42 from 0.5 ml enrichment gently mixed in 0.25% KOH of 4.5 ml for 20 s.

<sup>b</sup> No KOH treatment applied.

<sup>c</sup> Recoveries of O:3 and O:8 are separate experiments.

				Re	ecovery (	%)				
Sample		Day 1			Day 3			Day 5		
	CI	N	SSDC	CI	N	SSDC	CI	CIN		
	No KOH	KOH <sup>a</sup>	No KOH	No KOH	KOH <sup>a</sup>	No KOH	No KOH	$\mathrm{KOH}^{a}$	No KOH	
# 1	100	33	100	67	100	33	0	0	33	
#2	100	0	100	33	0	0	0	0	0	
# 3	100	33	100	33	0	33	33	33	0	
+ control	0	N/A	0	100	N/A	100	100	N/A	100	
- control	0	N/A	0	0	N/A	0	0	N/A	0	

Table 6. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3, 1000 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml ITC enrichment at 22°C and KOH post-enrichment treatment

<sup>a</sup> KOH post-enrichment treatment, 0.5 ml enrichment was gently mixed in 0.13% KOH of 4.5 ml for 30 s.

				Re	covery (%	)					
	Day 1	Day	2	Da	Day 5 Day 8				Day 11		
Sample	No KOH	No KOH	KOH <sup>a</sup>								
# 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
# 2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
# 3	0	48	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		

Table 7. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:8, 1000 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml ITC enrichment at 22°C and KOH post-enrichment treatment followed by plating on SSDC agar

<sup>a</sup> KOH post-enrichment treatment, 0.5 ml enrichment was gently mixed in 0.25% KOH of 4.5 ml for 30 s.

on day 2. However, O:8 recovery did not depend on incubation day ( $\chi^2_1 = 2.2500$ , P > 0.05).

Method 3, 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB at 21°C was unreliable for recovery of serotype O:3 (Table 8). Serotype O:3 was only recovered from one sample on day 4. KOH (0.13%) post-enrichment treatment was also conducted but it was unsuccessful. The modified CIN agar with polymyxin B was also unsuccessful. The same enrichment procedure with slightly different days and KOH (0.25%) treatment was applied to serotype O:8 (Table 9) and was also unreliable.

PSB at 4°C (method 4) for recovering both Y. enterocolitica O:3 (Table 10) and O:8 (Table 11) up to day 41 was also ineffective.

TSBPN, method 5 resulted in good recovery for both serotype O:3 and O:8 on both CIN and MAC agar plates (Table 12). One day incubation showed 100% recovery for both serotypes. Day 3 for O:3 resulted in no recovery and day 1 was significantly better than day 3 to recover O:8 ( $\chi^2_1$  = 11.4545, P < 0.05). Recovery of O:8 after 1 day incubation of TSBPN (Table 12) was significantly better than after 2 day incubation by using ITC enrichment (Table 7) (P < 0.05). Recovery of O:8 was compared between CIN and MAC agar plates from day 2 to day 4. The use of CIN plates gave significantly higher isolation rates ( $\chi^2_1$  = 5.0824, P < 0.05). The effectiveness of KOH post-enrichment treatment was inconsistent. MAC agar plates after KOH treatment gave significantly higher recovery rate on day 2 than MAC agar plates without the treatment ( $\chi^2_1$  = 5.0824, P < 0.05). However, KOH did not improve recovery on CIN plates for day 2 and 3 ( $\chi^2_1$  = 3.7723, P > 0.05).

Table 8. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3, 1000 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB at 21°C and KOH post-enrichment treatment

		Recovery (%)										
		Day 2			Day 4			Day 6				
Sample	CI	N	MCIN <sup>a</sup>	CI	N	MCIN <sup>a</sup>	CI	CIN No KOH KOH <sup>b</sup>				
	No KOH	KOH <sup>b</sup>	No KOH	No KOH	KOH <sup>b</sup>	No KOH	No KOH	$\mathrm{KOH}^{b}$	No KOH			
# 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			
# 2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			
# 3	0	0	0	67	0	0	0	0	0			
+ control	0	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A			
- control	0	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A	0	N/A	N/A			

<sup>*a*</sup> Modified CIN : CIN with Polymyxin B Sulfate (5 IU/ml).

<sup>b</sup> KOH post-enrichment treatment, 0.5 ml enrichment was gently mixed in 0.13% KOH of 4.5 ml for 30 s.

				Recove	ery (%)				
Sample	Da	y 1	Da	y 3	Da	y 5	Day 7		
	No KOH	KOH <sup>a</sup>	No KOH	KOH <sup>a</sup>	No KOH	KOH <sup>a</sup>	No KOH	KOH <sup>a</sup>	
# 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
# 2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
# 3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	

Table 9. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:8, 1000 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB at 21°C and KOH post-enrichment treatment followed by plating on CIN agar

<sup>a</sup> KOH post-enrichment treatment, 0.5 ml enrichment was gently mixed in 0.25% KOH of 4.5 ml for 20 s.

55

		Reco	very (%)	
Sample	Day 14	Day 21	Day 28	Day 35
# 1	0	0	0	0
# 2	0	0	0	0
# 3	0	0	0	0
+ control	0	0	0	0
- control	0	0	0	0

Table 10. Recovery of Y. enterocolitica O:3, 1000 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB

at 4°C followed by plating on CIN agar

						Recovery	/ (%) <sup>b</sup>					
Sample	D	ay 6	Day	y 13	Day	y 20	Da	y 27	Da	iy 34	Da	iy 41
	CIN	MAC	CIN	MAC	CIN	MAC	CIN	MAC	CIN	MAC	CIN	MAC
# 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# 2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
# 3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 11. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:8, 1000 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 25 g sample and 225 ml PSB at 4°C with KOH<sup>a</sup> and without KOH post-enrichment treatment

<sup>a</sup> No Y. enterocolitica O:8 was detected from day 6 to 41 from 0.5 ml enrichment gently mixed in 0.25% KOH of 4.5 ml for 20 to 30 s.

<sup>b</sup> No KOH treatment applied.

Table 12. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8, 1000 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml TSB with Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10 µg/ml) (TSBPN) at 18°C with and without KOH post-enrichment treatment

							R	lecover	y (%)							
Sa	mple		Day 1				Day 2			Day 3				Day 4		
		0	$3^a$ O: $8^a$		0:3	0	:8	0	:3	0	:8	O:3	0	:8		
		$C^b$	M <sup>c</sup>	$C^b$	M <sup>c</sup>	N/A	$C^b$	M <sup>c</sup>	$C^{b}$	M <sup>c</sup>	$C^b$	M <sup>c</sup>	N/A	$C^b$	M <sup>c</sup>	
	# 1	100	100	100	N/A	N/A	100	33	0	0	33	0	N/A	67	0	
NO	# 2	100	100	100	N/A	N/A	67	0	0	0	33	0	N/A	100	67	
KOH	#3	100	100	100	N/A	N/A	0	33	0	0	0	0	N/A	67	67	
-ent	+ control	100	100	33	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
-ont	- control	0	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0	0	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
KOH	#1	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	100	100	N	/A	100	0	N/A	0	0	
treatm	#2	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	100	100	N	/A	100	0	N/A	50	50	
-ent <sup>a</sup>	#3	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	0	100	N	/A	50	0	N/A	50	50	

<sup>a</sup> Recoveries of O:3 and O:8 are separate experiments.

<sup>b</sup> CIN agar.

<sup>c</sup> MAC agar.

<sup>d</sup> KOH post-enrichment treatment, 0.5 ml enrichment was gently mixed in 0.25% KOH of 4.5 ml for 20 to 30 s.

TSBPN, day 1 for O:3 and O:8 and ITC, day 1 for O:3 were much better enrichment methods than PBS at 4°C and PSB at 4 and 21°C (P < 0.05).

#### Inoculum level of 100 CFU/g feed

After the experiment of 1000 CFU/g feed, both ITC enrichment and TSBPN were inoculated with 100 CFU/g feed because both were effective to recover O:3, and O:3 and O:8, respectively.

Serotype O:3 was effectively recovered (100%) in ITC enrichment after 1 and 2 day incubation (Table 13). However, serotype O:8 was poorly recovered (Table 13). The difference in recovery of serotypes O:3 and O:8 in ITC enrichment was significant ( $\chi^2_1$  = 32.2105, P < 0.05). A two-step enrichment procedure was unsuccessful in recovery of both serotypes.

TSBPN also showed good recovery (Table 14). Both O:3 and O:8 were recovered in all three feed samples after 24 h incubation. A two-step enrichment procedure (15 h preenrichment followed by 24 h selective enrichment) showed good recovery for O:3, but O:8 could not be recovered from one sample (Table 14). No difference was found in recovery between normal TSBPN procedure and two-step procedure for O:3 and O:8 ( $\chi^2_1$  = 0.9000, P > 0.30).

In comparison of ITC enrichment and TSBPN, no difference was found in recovery of O:3 after 24 h. No difference was also found in recovery of O:8 (P > 0.05).

TSBPN with calcium chloride (0.01%) was used to recover *Y. enterocolitica* O:8, 100 CFU/g feed. But, this method was also unsuccessful. Even positive control could not recover *Y. enterocolitica*. KOH treatment of 0.5% with 0.5% NaCl for 30 s was tried, but did not improve recovery.

Table 13. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8, 100 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml ITC enrichment at 22°C with one-step and two-step followed by plating on CIN agar

			Recove	ry (%)					
Sample		Normal	procedure		Two-step <sup>a</sup>				
	24	h	48	48 h 15 h, then 2					
	$O:3^b$	$O:8^b$	O:3	O:8	0:3	0:8			
# 1	100	0	100	0	0	0			
# 2	100	0	100	0	0	0			
# 3	100	33	100	0	0	0			
+ control	67	0	100	0	0	0			
- control	0	0	0	0	0	0			

<sup>*a*</sup> 10 g feed and 90 ml pre-ITC enrichment omitting irgasan, ticarcillin and potassium chlorate from ITC enrichment was incubated for 15 h. Subsequently, 1 ml was transferred to ITC enrichment of 100 ml, then another 24 h incubation was taken.

<sup>b</sup> Recoveries of O:3 and O:8 are separate experiments.

Table 14. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8, 100 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and TSB with Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10  $\mu$ g/ml) (TSBPN) at 18°C with one-step and two-step followed by plating on CIN agar

		Recov	/ery (%)	
Sample	Normal p	procedure <sup>a</sup>	Two-	-step <sup>b</sup>
	O:3 <sup>c</sup>	$O:8^c$	O:3	O:8
# 1	100	100	100	33
# 2	100	33	100	67
#3	100	33	100	0
+ control	100	0	67	0
- control	0	0	0	0

<sup>a</sup> 24 h incubation.

<sup>b</sup> 10 g feed and 90 ml TSB was incubated for 15 h. Subsequently, 1 ml was transferred to TSBPN of 100 ml, then another 24 h incubation was taken.

<sup>c</sup> Recoveries of O:3 and O:8 are separate experiments.

#### Inoculum level of 10 CFU/g feed

As inoculum level decreased, the difficulty of isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* from feed increased.

ITC enrichment and TSBPN were inoculated with O:3, and both O:3 and O:8, respectively at 10 CFU/g feed because they showed good recovery at 100 CFU/g feed.

ITC enrichment satisfactorily recovered O:3 after 24 h incubation (56%) and 48 h incubation (67%), but the recovery failed from one sample after 48 h incubation (Table 15).

For TSBPN, two different two-step enrichment procedures (Grain-out and grain-in) were compared to the normal procedure of 24 h incubation (Table 16). TSBPN showed satisfactory recovery of O:3 (89%) after 24 h incubation and also for grain-out (100%) and grain-in (100%) two-step procedures. However, TSBPN failed to recover O:8. Recovery in TSBPN was dependent on serotypes (O:3 and O:8) ( $\chi^2_1$  = 14.4000, P < 0.05). No difference between ITC enrichment, 24 h and TSBPN, 24 h in recovery of O:3 was found ( $\chi^2_1$  = 2.4923, P > 0.05).

TSB with irgasan (4 $\mu$ g/ml) and calcium chloride (0.01%) was devised and inoculated with O:8. The normal procedure of 24 h incubation and a two-step procedure (grain-out) were both tested, but they were not successful.

The optimum recovery rates for different enrichment procedures and inoculum levels are summarized (Table 17).
	Recovery (%)		
Sample	24 h	48 h	
# 1	67	100	
# 2	33	0	
# 3	67	100	
+ control	33	100	
- control	0	0	

Table 15. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3, 10 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml ITC enrichment at 22°C followed by plating on CIN agar

Table 16. Recovery of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8, 10 CFU/g feed from swine feeds using 10 g sample and 90 ml TSB with Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10 µg/ml) (TSBPN) at 18°C with one-step and two-step followed by plating on CIN agar

Sample	Recovery (%)							
	Normal procedure <sup>a</sup>		Two-step (Grain-out) <sup>b</sup>		Two-step (Grain-in) <sup>c</sup>			
	O:3 <sup><i>d</i></sup>	$O:8^d$	O:3	O:8	O:3	O:8		
#1	67	0	100	0	100	0		
# 2	100	0	100	0	100	0		
#3	100	0	100	0	100	0		
+ control	100	67	100	0	100	100		
- control	0	0	0	0	0	0		

<sup>a</sup> 24 h incubation.

<sup>b</sup> 10 g feed and 90 ml TSB was incubated for 15 h. Subsequently, 1 ml was transferred to TSBPN of 100 ml, then another 24 h incubation was taken.

<sup>c</sup> 10 g feed and 90 ml TSB was incubated for 15 h. Subsequently, another 24 h incubation was taken after the addition

of Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10 µg/ml).

<sup>d</sup> Recoveries of O:3 and O:8 are separate experiments.

Method	Plating agar	Serotype	Level of inoculum (CFU/g feed)	Day(s) of enrichment	Temperature (°C) of incubation	Recovery (%)
PBS	CIN	O:3	1000	14 to 35	4	0
PBS	CIN	O:8	1000	35	4	11
ITC	CIN	O:3	1000	1	22	100
ITC	SSDC	O:8	1000	2	22	17
PSB	CIN	O:3	1000	4	21	22
PSB	CIN	O:8	1000	1 to 7	21	0
PSB	CIN	O:3	1000	14 to 35	4	0
PSB	CIN	O:8	1000	6 to 41	4	0
TSBPN	CIN	O:3	1000	1	18	100
TSBPN	CIN	O:8	1000	1	18	100
TSBPN-KOH	MAC	O:8	1000	2	18	100
ITC	CIN	O:3	100	1 or 2	22	100
ITC	CIN	O:8	100	1	22	11
TSBPN	CIN	O:3	100	1	18	100
TSBPN	CIN	O:8	100	1	18	56
ITC	CIN	O:3	10	1	22	56
TSBPN	CIN	O:3	10	1	18	89

Table 17. Summary of methods to recover Y. enterocolitica O:3 and O:8 from swine feeds

## Discussion

The recovery rates of both PBS and PSB at 4°C were poor on both O:3 and O:8 in addition to being time-consuming procedures, although PSB is known to be superior to PBS in cold enrichment (De Boer et al., 1982; Mehlman, 1978). The inferiority of PSB to ITC enrichment in this study agrees with other researches with pork samples (Nesbakken et al., 1991). There is some disagreement on the efficiency of cold enrichments of PBS or PSB for pathogenic strains like O:3 and O:8. Some researchers (De Boer et al., 1982; De Boer and Nouws, 1991; Van Noyen et al., 1980; Wauters et al., 1988) found weak recovery capacity of these methods for pathogenic strains. However, Doyle et al. (1981) successfully isolated O:8 from porcine tongues by PBS and Cox and Bailey (1990) recovered O:3 and O:8 appropriately by PBS. Sometimes, these were superior to ITC enrichment (Hariharan et al., 1995; Hoorfar and Holmvig, 1999), which is in contrast to the results in this study using animal feeds. Anyway, this study indicates that the prevalence of Y. enterocolitica in swine or pork samples (De Boer and Seldam, 1987; Doyle et al., 1981; Jiang et al., 2000; Letellier et al., 1999; Nesbakken and Kapperud, 1985) and poultry (De Boer et al., 1982) may have been greatly underestimated when PBS or PSB was used for enrichment.

PSB at 21°C was also ineffective and the increase of incubation temperature of PSB did not result in better recovery.

The effectiveness of ITC enrichment for serotype O:3 was confirmed in this study. The recovery rate for O:8 was relatively poor. Wauters et al. (1988) mentioned the efficacy of ITC enrichment may be limited to O:3. MRB from which ITC enrichment derived is inhibitory to O:8 (Schiemann, 1983). Irgasan, magnesium chloride or potassium chlorate in ITC enrichment does not have an effect on O:8 (Schiemann, 1980; Toora et al., 1994a).

Normally two to five days of incubation time for ITC enrichment were used (De Boer and Nouws, 1991; De Giusti et al., 1995; De Zutter et al., 1995; Hariharan et al., 1995; Hoorfar and Holmvig, 1999; Wauters et al., 1988), but our study showed that 1 or 2 day incubation is most desirable for isolation from feed samples.

TSBPN was the most preferred recovery method in this study because it was more sensitive than other enrichment methods and recovered both O:3 and O:8. There was no statistical difference for recovery capacity, compared to ITC enrichment at 10 CFU/g feed for O:3, but the difference was found at 1000 CFU/g feed for O:8. Different use of agar plates, CIN agar for TSBPN and SSDC agar for ITC enrichment may be another reason for the difference. In addition, a TSBPN is a simple procedure, compared to ITC enrichment, which requires many ingredients. TSBPN favored O:3 more than O:8 (Table 16), similar to ITC enrichment. Nonpathogenic *Y. enterocolitica* strains were not tested in this study, but TSBPN is more likely to be favorable for nonpathogenic strains because virulent Congo Red+ strains were found to be more susceptible to polymyxin B and novobiocin than were nonvirulent strains (Robins-Browne et al., 1986). Thus, nonpathogenic strains should be more resistant to these antibiotics.

The 1 day incubation gave much higher recovery rate than 3 day incubation (Table 12) for recovery of O:3 and O:8 from swine feed samples. Accordingly, TSBPN for 24 h incubation was most efficient to recover both O:3 and O:8 from swine feeds on basis of

recovery rate and incubation time in this study. Longer incubation times have been used for milk samples (Landgraf et al., 1993).

CIN agar plates were preferred in this study because of very noticeable colony morphology with dark red center and colorless border and its high selectivity. MAC agar was used without any major problems at 1000 CFU/g inoculum level in this study. However, colorless and small colonies of presumptive *Y. enterocolitica* made it hard to pick colonies. Also, the absence of selective supplements made it hard to isolate colonies in plates with heavy contamination. Wauters et al. (1988) and De Boer and Nouws (1991) recommended SSDC agar rather than CIN agar to recover O:3 from ITC enrichment, but no benefit of the use of SSDC was found in this study. Relatively less differentiated colony morphology and impossibility of storage due to lack of autoclaving made the use of SSDC agar undesirable. Another disadvantage is that SSDC agar is less suitable to recover pathogenic strains than O:3 (Wauters et al., 1988). In this study, O:8 was recovered from one CIN agar plate at 100 CFU/g feed on day 1 from ITC enrichment (Table 13), but no O:8 was recovered from SSDC plates even at 1000 CFU/g feed (Table 7).

Some researchers (Aulisio et al., 1980; De Boer et al., 1982; Doyle et al., 1981) reported the usefulness of KOH post-enrichment treatment for better recovery of *Y*. *enterocolitica*, but no difference was found for KOH treatment in this study except for MAC agar plates on day 2, TSBPN (Table 12). Since KOH treatment is used to eliminate background flora in highly contaminated foods, highly selective media may make this step unnecessary. When CIN plates are employed for isolation, KOH treatment may not be useful because CIN plates are already highly selective for *Y. enterocolitica*. Nevertheless, the value of KOH treatments still remains because injured *Y. enterocolitica* is hard to recover on CIN plates and some strains like *Y. enterocolitica* biotype 3B serotype O3 (Fukushima and Gomyoda, 1986), and also plasmid-bearing virulent strains (Bhaduri et al., 1997) are possibly inhibited on CIN plates. Accordingly, the combination of MAC agar and KOH treatment can be valuable. In this study, the KOH treatment was only effective for MAC plates, day 2 in TSBPN on which high number of background microflora are expected (Table 12). The value of MAC agar – KOH treatment was shown compared to CIN agar – KOH treatment by Doyle and Hugdahl (1983), and it indicates possible CIN agar inhibition against some *Y. enterocolitica*.

Two-step enrichment procedure was performed for ITC enrichment and TSBPN, but no improved recovery was found. The two-step procedure was used by a few researchers (Bhaduri et al., 1997; Schiemann, 1982; Toora et al., 1994b). An advantage of the twostep procedure was believed to prevent selective agents from suppressing the growth of virulent *Y. enterocolitica* at the onset of growth (Bhaduri et al., 1997; Schiemann, 1982), but the addition of irgasan or novobiocin to CIN broth base was actually found to increase the growth rate of *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 at 25 or 37°C (Logue et al., 2000). Thus, the addition of antibiotics such as irgasan or novobiocin in the later stage can adversely affect the recovery because unlimited growth of other background microflora can easily suppress the growth of *Y. enterocolitica*.

The feeds used in this study were free from antibiotics, but currently 70 to 80% of growing feeds, and 50 to 60% of finishing feeds contain antimicrobial agents in US (Cromwell, 2001). If the feeds containing antimicrobial agents are used for recovery of *Y*. *enterocolitica*, the inhibitory effects of the antimicrobial agents to *Y*. *enterocolitica* may

be still minimal because the antimicrobials used in feeds are used normally at subtherapeutic levels and also diluted in enrichments.

Research to develop enrichment media should be based on recovery of both O:3 and O:8 (especially low levels) equally. Considering the poor recovery rates of ITC enrichment and TSBPN for O:8 compared with O:3 in this study, efficient enrichment to recover O:8 is needed because O:8 is the most prevalent serotype in US. Serotype O:8 is normally more sensitive to enrichment chemicals (Doyle et al., 1981; Lee et al., 1980). YER-BOS by Schiemann (1982) recovered relatively low number of inoculum of *Y. enterocolitica* O:8 (in food), as low as 30 CFU/g, but this procedure is complicated. The difficulty in making an enrichment which can recover various *Y. enterocolitica* without bias may be related to the heterogeneity of biochemical traits of serotypes of *Y. enterocolitica*.

Also, the development of recovery enrichment media for *Y. enterocolitica* should be focused on highly nutritious media, as suggested by Schiemann (1989). TSBPN and ITC enrichment are more nutritious media than others evaluated in our study. Incubation temperatures of 12 to 22°C are more practical to shorten incubation time compared to cold enrichment (weeks). In addition, not only the effects of individual selective supplements, but also the combination or mutual effects of selective agents (Toora, 1994a) should be studied because they can have nullifying effects on each other (Schiemann, 1980). The combination of selective supplements is not always additive. In this study, for example the addition of calcium chloride to TSBPN gave negative effects to recover serotype O:8 while calcium chloride by itself enhanced the growth of *Y. enterocolitica* in other studies (Toora, 1994a).

In conclusion, the media found optimal in recovery of O:3 and O:8 from swine feeds were TSBPN, 24 h.

References

- Aulisio, C. C. G., I. J. Mehlman, and A. C. Sanders. 1980. Alkali method for rapid recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* from foods. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 39:135-140.
- Bhaduri, S., B. Cottrell, and A. R. Pickard. 1997. Use of a single procedure for selective enrichment, isolation, and identification of plasmid-bearing virulent *Yersinia enterocolitica* of various serotypes from pork samples. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 63:1657-1660.
- Bottone, E. J. 1997. Yersinia enterocolitica: The charisma continues. Clin. Microbiol. Reviews. 10:257-276.
- Cox, N. A., and J. S. Bailey. 1990. Comparison of enrichment and plating media for isolation of *Yersinia*. Poultry Sci. 69:686-693.
- Cromwell, G. L. 2001. Antimicrobial and promicrobial agents, p. 401-426. In A. J. Lewis and L. L. Southern (ed.), Swine nutrition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- De Boer, E., B. J. Hartog, and J. Oosterom. 1982. Occurrence of *Yersinia* enterocolitica in poultry products. J. Food Prot. 45:322-325.
- De Boer, E., and J. F. M. Nouws. 1991. Slaughter pigs and pork as a source of human pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 12:375-378.
- De Boer, E., and W. M. Seldam. 1987. Comparison of methods for the isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from porcine tonsils and pork. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 5:95-101.
- De Giusti, M., E. De Vito, A. Serra, B. Quattrucci, A. Boccia, L. Pacifico, A. Ranucci, G. Ravagnan, and C. Chiesa. 1995. Occurrence of pathogenic Yersinia enterocolitica in slaughtered pigs and pork products. Contr. Microbiol. Immunol. 13:126-129.
- De Zutter, L., M. Janssens, and G. Wauters. 1995. Detection of *Yersinia enterocolitica* serogroup O:3 using different inoculation methods of the enrichment medium irgasan ticarcillin chlorate. Contr. Microbiol. Immunol. 13:123-125.
- Doyle, M. P., and M. B. Hugdahl. 1983. Improved procedure for recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from meats. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 45:127-135.
- Doyle, M. P., M. B. Hugdahl, and S. L. Taylor. 1981. Isolation of virulent *Yersinia* enterocolitica from porcine tongues. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 42:661-666.

- Fukushima, H., and M. Gomyoda. 1986. Growth of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis and Yersinia enterocolitica biotype 3B serotype O3 inhibited on cefsulodin-irgasannovobiocin agar. J. Clin. Microbiol. 24:116-120.
- Hariharan, H., J. S. Giles, S. B. Heaney, S. M. Leclerc, and R. D. Schurman. 1995. Isolation, serotypes, and virulence-associated properties of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from the tonsils of slaughter hogs. Can. J. Vet. Res. 59:161-166.
- Hoorfar, J., and C. B. F. Holmvig. 1999. Evaluation of culture methods for rapid screening of swine faecal samples for *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:3/biotype 4. J. Vet. Med. B 46:189-198.
- Jay, J. M. 2000. Modern food microbiology. Aspen publisher, Gaithersburg, Md.
- Jiang, G. C., D. Kang, and D. Y. C. Fung. 2000. Enrichment procedures and plating media for isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Food Prot. 63:1483-1486.
- Kachigan, S. K. 1986. Statistical analysis. Radius Press, New York.
- Landgraf, M., S. T. Iaria, and D. P. Falcão. 1993. An improved enrichment procedure for the isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* and related species from milk. J. Food Prot. 56:447-450.
- Lee, W. H., M. E. Harris, D. McClain, R. E. Smith, and R. W. Johnston. 1980. Two modified selenite media for the recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from meats. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 39:205-209.
- Letellier, A., S. Messier, and S. Quessy. 1999. Prevalence of *Salmonella* spp. and *Yersinia enterocolitica* in finishing swine at Canadian abattoirs. J. Food Prot. 62:22-25.
- Logue, C. M., J. J. Sheridan, D. A. McDowell, I. S. Blair, and T. Hegarty. 2000. The effect of temperature and selective agents on the growth of *Yersinia enterocolitica* serotype O:3 in pure culture. J. Appl. Microbiol. 88:1001-1008.
- Mead, P. S., L. Slutsker, V. Dietz, L. F. McCaig, J. S. Bresee, C. Shapiro, P. M. Griffin, and R. V. Tauxe. 1999. Food-related illness and death in the United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 5:607-625.
- Mehlman, I. J., C. C. G. Aulisio, and A. C. Sanders. 1978. Problems in the recovery and identification of *Yersinia* from food. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 61:761-771.
- Nesbakken, T., and G. Kapperud. 1985. Yersinia enterocolitica and Yersinia enterocolitica-like bacteria in Norwegian slaughter pigs. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 1:301-309.

- Nesbakken, T., G. Kapperud, K. Dommarsnes, M. Skurnik, and E. Hornes. 1991. Comparative study of a DNA hybridization method and two isolation procedures for detection of *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:3 in naturally contaminated pork products. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57:389-394.
- Orr, D. B. 1995. Fundamentals of applied statistics and surveys. Chapman & Hall, New York.
- Peixotto, S. S., G. Finne, M. O. Hanna, and C. Vanderzant. 1979. Presence, growth and survival of *Yersinia enterocolitica* in oysters, shrimp and crab. J. Food Prot. 42:974-981.
- Robins-Browne, R. M., J. K. Prpic, and R. B. Davey. 1986. Influence of the virulence plasmid and the Congo red reaction on the antimicrobial susceptibility of *Yersinia* species. J. Antimicro. Chemoth. 17:553-557.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1980. *Yersinia enterocolitica*: observations on some growth characteristics and response to selective agents. Can. J. Microbiol. 26:1232-1240.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1982. Development of a two-step enrichment procedure for recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from food. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 43:14-27.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1983. Comparison of enrichment and plating media for recovery of virulent strains of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from inoculated beef stew. J. Food Prot. 46:957-964.
- Schiemann, D. A. 1989. Yersinia enterocolitica and Yersinia pseudotuberculosis, p.602-640. In M. P. Doyle (ed.), Foodborne bacterial pathogens, M. Dekker, New York.
- Schiemann, D. A., and S. Toma. 1978. Isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from raw milk. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 35:54-58.
- Thippareddi, H., R. K. Phebus, D. Y. C. Fung, and C. L. Kastner. 1995. Use of universal preenrichment medium supplemented with oxyrase<sup>™</sup> for the simultaneous recovery of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Rapid Meth. Aut. Microbiol. 4:37-50.
- Toora, S., E. Budu-Amoako, R. F. Ablett, and J. Smith. 1994a. Evaluation of different antimicrobial agents used as selective supplements for isolation and recovery of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 77:67-72.
- Toora, S., E. Budu-Amoako, R. F. Ablett, and J. Smith. 1994b. Isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* from ready-to-eat foods and pork by a simple two step procedure. Food Microbiol. 11:369-374.

- Van Noyen, R., J. Vandepitte, and G. Wauters. 1980. Nonvalue of cold enrichment of stools for isolation of *Yersinia enterocolitica* serotypes 3 and 9 from patients. J. Clin. Microbiol. 11:127-131.
- Wauters, G., V. Goossens, M. Janssens, and J. Vandepitte. 1988. New enrichment method for isolation of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* serogroup O:3 from pork. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 54:851-854.

Part III:

# Transformation of Yersinia enterocolitica with

pGFPuv plasmid vector

### Abstract

Green fluorescent proteins (GFPs) producing bacteria have been increasingly used in food microbiology area because of easy identification of it. GFP producing *Y*. *enterocolitica* has never been used in this area. *Y. enterocolitica* was transformed with the pGFPuv plasmid vector which encodes for GFP by using electroporation. Fluorescence of *Y. enterocolitica* colonies on Luria-Bertani (LB) and also CIN agars was visualized under UV light. The presence of pGFPuv vectors inside the cells was confirmed on agarose gel by electrophoresis at 3.3 kb. Because the presence of green fluorescent *Y. enterocolitica* colonies on *Y. enterocolitica* for many applications such as evaluation of culture media for isolation of *Y. enterocolitica* from naturally contaminated materials. This technique is also very useful for evaluation of spatial location or gene expression of cells.

### Introduction

Green fluorescent proteins (GFPs) are from a Pacific Northwest jellyfish, *Aequorea victoria* (Cubitt et al., 1995). Transformed microorganisms with GFP gene such as *E. coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* have been increasingly used in the study of food microbiology (Ajjarapu and Shelef, 1999; Burnett et al., 2000; Gandhi et al., 2001; Pao et al., 2001; Wachtel et al., 2002) because their presence or spatial location can be easily identified based on visualization. Another advantage of the use of GFP gene is that no factors or substrates for the generation of green light are required and no considerable toxicity of GFP was observed (Misteli and Spector, 1997).

In this study, the transformation of *Y. enterocolitica* with pGFPuv plasmid vector (Clontech, Palo Alto, CA) encoding for GFP was tested for its potential use.

### Materials and methods

Y. enterocolitica was transformed with the pGFPuv plasmid vector (Clontech, Palo Alto, CA) with the assistance of Paul Ebner, a graduate student in the animal science department. The pGFPuv vector encodes for *Aequorea Victoria* green fluorescent protein (GFP) that gives bright fluorescence when excited by standard UV light, and contains ampicillin resistance selection marker (Anonymous).

#### **Competent cells**

Cells were made electro-competent using the technique outlined in the electroporator II instruction manual (Anonymous, 1997). Briefly, *Y. enterocolitica* culture was grown in 25 ml of Luria-Bertani (LB) broth (10 g Bacto tryptone [Difco, Detroit, MI], 5.0 g yeast extract [Difco], 10.0 g NaCl [Difco] per 1 liter) at 37°C overnight. The resulting culture was used to inoculate 500 ml of LB broth and grown at 37°C to mid-log growth phase (O.D.<sub>600</sub> = 0.55). LB broth of 125 ml containing mid-log phase *Y. enterocolitica* was transferred to a chilled 250 ml centrifuge tube. The culture was pelleted by centrifugation at 3500 rpm and 0°C for 15 min. The culture was resuspended in 125 ml ice-cold water, pelleted and resuspended in 62.5 ml ice-cold water. The culture was again pelleted, resuspended in 5 ml ice-cold, 10% glycerol (Fisher Scientific) and transferred to 25 ml centrifuge tube. The glycerol containing culture was pelleted and resuspended in 240  $\mu$ l 10% ice-cold glycerol. Individual aliquots of 40  $\mu$ l were stored at -70°C until further use.

#### Electroporation

Electro-competent cells (40  $\mu$ l) were briefly mixed with 1  $\mu$ l of pGFPuv (500 ng/ $\mu$ l) and transferred to an 0.1 cm electroporation cuvettes (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Cells were transformed by administering a rapid 1500 volt shock (Labconco, Kansas City, MO) using the Electroporator II (Invitrogen, San Diego, CA). Transformed cells were then transferred to 1 ml SOC broth medium (2.0 g bacto tryptone [Difco], 0.5 g yeast extract [Difco], 1 ml 1 M NaCl [FisherBiotech], 0.25 ml 1 M KCl [Mallinckrodt, Paris, KY], 1 ml 2 M Mg<sup>2+</sup> [Mallinckrodt], and 1 ml 2 M glucose [Mallinckrodt] per 100 ml) and incubated for 1.25 h at 37°C to increase their viability and transformation efficiency (Drury, 1994).

#### Isolation of fluorescent Y. enterocolitica

Individual colonies containing pGFPuv were isolated by spreading 100  $\mu$ l of transformed cell culture on LB agar plates containing 100  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) and a 100  $\mu$ l overlay of 100 mmol isopropyl-beta-D-thiogalactoside (IPTG) to increase gene expression (Chalfie et al., 1994). Plates with no ampicillin were also spread as controls. Cultures were incubated for 16 to 24 h at 37°C, then observed under UV light (350-450 nm) (Transilluminator, San Gabriel, CA) for the presence of bright green colonies.

#### Verification of transformation

Individual green fluorescent colonies were inoculated into 5 ml of 2YT broth (16 g tryptone peptone, 10 g yeast extract, and 5 g NaCl per 1 liter) and grown overnight at 37°C. Plasmid DNA was isolated using Quantum Prep Plasmid Miniprep kit (BIO-RAD, Hercules, CA) according to the manufacturer's direction.

Plasmid DNA was separated by traditional electrophoresis in 0.9% agarose and 0.5X TBE (TBE, 10X: 108 g tris-base [Mallinckrodt], 55 g boric acid [FisherBiotech], and 20 ml 0.5 M EDTA (pH 8.0) [FisherBiotech] per 1 liter).

DNA samples (14  $\mu$ l) were combined with 3  $\mu$ l sample buffer (4 g sucrose

[FisherBiotech] and 2.5 mg bromophenol blue [ICN, Cleveland, OH] in 10 ml tris-base EDTA (TE)) and loaded into the individual wells of the agarose gel. A super-coiled DNA ladder (Promega, Madison, WI) was included as a molecular weight reference. Samples were electrophoresed for 1 h at 110 V. Gels were visualized over a UV transilluminator (Fisherbiotech) and photographed for further analysis.

#### Streaking on CIN agar plates with fluorescent Y. enterocolitica

Three isolated fluorescent colonies were grown in each BHI broth for overnight, then streaked on two CIN plates for use of CIN plates with fluorescent *Y. enterocolitica*.

### Results

Many green fluorescent colonies of *Y. enterocolitica* were observed under UV lights on the LB agar plates. Non-ampicillin treated plates were found to have no fluorescent colonies. Also, original SOC medium gave larger growth of fluorescent colonies than the medium with 1:1 or 1:10 dilution with saline.

The presence of pGFPuv vectors inside *Y. enterocolitica* cells was verified on agarose gel by electrophoresis. The band at 3.3 kb, corresponding with one of pGFPuv vector, was apparent (Fig 1).

Three transformed isolates were grown in each BHI broth overnight, then streaked on CIN plates. After incubation, the plates were observed under an UV box. Two isolates fluoresced on CIN plates, but one did not.

### Discussion

*Y. enterocolitica* was successfully transformed with green fluorescent protein (GFP) plasmid. The colonies fluoresced on CIN agar plates as well as LB agar plates. An advantage of the use of fluorescent *Y. enterocolitica* lies in that the identification of the microorganism is much easier. The reason why one isolate among three fluorescent isolates did not fluoresce on CIN plates may be due to the absence of ampicillin in BHI broth and CIN agar plates. The possibility of loss of pGFPuv vectors should be a concern when transformed cells are used in a scientific study. In addition, low brightness on plates without IPTG was somewhat problematic to identify fluorescent colonies.

Although this transformation was successful, fluorescent *Y. enterocolitica* was not used in this study to evaluate enrichment methods. Ampicillin must be maintained in culture media to keep pGFPuv plasmids inside the cells. We were concerned that addition of ampicillin could disrupt the consistency of this study because ampicillin was not used in all media.

Integration of GFP gene into the chromosome of *Y. enterocolitica* should be more desirable than insertion of the GFP plasmid into the cells to prevent cells from losing the GFP gene during a scientific study (Gandhi et al., 2001).



Figure 1. Plasmid DNA of transformed *Y. enterocolitica* separated by agarose gel electrophoresis. Arrows indicate a 3kb size standard and presence of pGFPuv in each transformed sample. Lane 1, super-coiled DNA ladder ; Lane 2 through 7, transformed *Y. enterocolitica* with pGFPuv vector.

- Ajjarapu, S., and L. A. Shelef. 1999. Fate of pGFP-bearing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in ground beef at 2 and 10°C and effects of lactate, diacetate, and citrate. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65:5394-5397.
- Anonymous. 1997. Bacterial electroporation, p. 13-18. *In* The electroporator II instruction manual, version 3.0, Invitrogen, San Diego, CA.
- Anonymous. "pGFPuv," From BD Biosciences Clontech, [Internet, WWW], ADDRESS: http://www.clontech.com/techinfo/vectors/vectorsF-I/pGFPuv.shtml
- Burnett, S. L., J. Chen, and L. R. Beuchat. 2000. Attachment of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to the surfaces and internal structures of apples as detected by confocal scanning laser microscopy. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66:4679-4687.
- Chalfie, M., Y. Tu, G. Euskirchen, W. W. Ward, and D. C. Prasher. 1994. Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression. Science. 263:802-805.
- Cubitt, A. B., R. Heim, S. R. Adams, A. E. Boyd, L. A. Gross, and R. Y. Tsien. 1995. Understanding, improving and using green fluorescent proteins. Trends Biochem. 20:448-455.
- Drury, L. 1994. Transformation of bacteria by electroporation, p. 1-8. *In* A. J. Harwood (ed.), Protocols for gene analysis, Humana Press, Totowa, NJ.
- Gandhi, M., S. Golding, S. Yaron, and K. R. Matthews. 2001. Use of green fluorescent protein expressing *Salmonella* Stanley to investigate survival, spatial location, and control on alfalfa sprouts. J. Food Prot. 64:1891-1898.
- Misteli, T., and D. L. Spector. 1997. Applications of the green fluorescent protein in cell biology and biotechnology. Nature Biotechnol. 15:961-964.
- Pao, S., C. L. Davis, and M. E. Parish. 2001. Microscopic observation and processing validation of fruit sanitizing treatments for the enhanced microbiological safety of fresh orange juice. J. Food Prot. 64:310-314.
- Wachtel, M. R., L. C. Whitehand, and R. E. Mandrell. 2002. Association of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 with preharvest leaf lettuce upon exposure to contaminated irrigation water. J. Food Prot. 65:18-25.

TSB with Polymyxin B (5 IU/ml) and Novobiocin (10  $\mu$ g/ml) (TSBPN) at 18°C for 1 day incubation followed by plating on CIN agar plates was most the efficient and desirable enrichment method to recover *Y. enterocolitica* O:3 and O:8 from swine feeds in this study.

Tremendous efforts of many scientists over the last 20 years have made it possible to develop efficient enrichment methods for *Y. enterocolitica*. Nevertheless, the absence of enrichment broth which is equally efficient for various serotypes of *Y. enterocolitica* and the relative insensitivity of cultural methods leading to underestimation of prevalence of pathogenic *Y. enterocolitica* (Johannessen et al., 2000) still remain a problem. Compared to cultural methods, PCR and colony hybridization methods are known to be rapid, highly specific and more sensitive (Durisin et al., 1997; Johannessen et al., 2000; Lambertz et al., 1996; Nesbakken et al., 1991). However, drawbacks of PCR and colony hybridization methods still exist in that PCR method can have a high incidence of false positive (Lambertz et al., 1996) and colony hybridization methods is costly (Sheridan et al., 1998). Thus, research is needed to develop efficient culture methods which can recover various serotypes/biotypes of *Y. enterocolitica* and to eliminate drawbacks of rapid methods. Optimal methods should be selected after consideration to each different sample type.

GFP producing *Y. enterocolitica* can be a versatile tool in the study of food microbiology. It can be used to track the contamination by *Y. enterocolitica* in a food matrix, or to assess storage conditions of foods or preservation effects. Insertion of the

GFP gene to the chromosome of *Y. enterocolitica* prevents the cells from losing the GFP gene and is recommended for GFP transformed cells which might be used routinely.

- Durisin, M. D., A. Ibrahim, and M. W. Griffiths. 1997. Detection of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in milk and pork using a DIG-labelled probe targeted against the *yst* gene. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 37:103-112.
- Johannessen, G. S., G. Kapperud, and H. Kruse. 2000. Occurrence of pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in Norwegian pork products determined by a PCR method and a traditional culturing method. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 54:75-80.
- Lambertz, S. T., A. Ballagi-Pordány, A. Nilsson, P. Norberg, and M.-L. Danielsson-Tham. 1996. A comparison between a PCR method and a conventional culture method for detecting pathogenic *Yersinia enterocolitica* in food. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 81:303-308.
- Nesbakken, T., G. Kapperud, K. Dommarsnes, M. Skurnik, and E. Hornes. 1991. Comparative study of a DNA hybridization method and two isolation procedures for detection of *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:3 in naturally contaminated pork products. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57:389-394.
- Sheridan, J. J., C. M. Logue, D. A. McDowell, I. S. Blair, T. Hegarty, and P. Toivanen. 1998. The use of a surface adhesion immunofluorescent (SAIF) method for the rapid detection of *Yersinia enterocolitica* serotype O:3 in meat. J. Appl. Microbiol. 85:737-745.

### Vita

Joo-Sung (Paul) Kim was born on May 26, 1974, and is the first son of Kil-Yong Kim and Bok-Nyon Kim. He received his elementary, middle, and high school education in Seoul, South Korea, graduating from On-Soo high school in February of 1993. He then entered Korea University in Seoul majoring in food technology. He graduated from Korea University with a B. S. in food technology in division of life science in February, 2000. In August of 2000, he started his graduate study toward a Master of Science in Food Science department under the direction of Dr. F. Ann Draughon at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville. Upon completion of his graduate research in July, 2002, he was awarded his Master of Science degree.

